Asymptotics of implied volatility in the Gatheral double stochastic volatility model

Mohammed Albuhayri



Mälardalen University Press Dissertations No. 368

ASYMPTOTICS OF IMPLIED VOLATILITY IN THE GATHERAL DOUBLE STOCHASTIC VOLATILITY MODEL

Mohammed Albuhayri

2022



School of Education, Culture and Communication

Copyright © Mohammed Albuhayri, 2022 ISBN 978-91-7485-569-2 ISSN 1651-4238 Printed by E-Print AB, Stockholm, Sweden

Mälardalen University Press Dissertations No. 368

ASYMPTOTICS OF IMPLIED VOLATILITY IN THE GATHERAL DOUBLE STOCHASTIC VOLATILITY MODEL

Mohammed Albuhayri

Akademisk avhandling

som för avläggande av filosofie doktorsexamen i matematik/tillämpad matematik vid Akademin för utbildning, kultur och kommunikation kommer att offentligen försvaras tisdagen den 29 november 2022, 13.15 i Kappa, Mälardalens universitet, Västerås.

Fakultetsopponent: Professor Yulia Mishura, Taras Shevchenko National University, Ukraine



Akademin för utbildning, kultur och kommunikation

Abstract

We consider a market model of financial engineering with three factors represented by three correlated Brownian motions. The volatility of the risky asset in this model is the sum of two stochastic volatilities. The dynamic of each volatility is governed by a mean-reverting process. The first stochastic volatility of mean-reversion process reverts to the second volatility at a fast rate, while the second volatility moves slowly to a constant level over time with the state of the economy.

The double mean-reverting model by Gatheral (2008) is motivated by empirical dynamics of the variance of the stock price. This model can be consistently calibrated to both the SPX options and the VIX options. However due to the lack of an explicit formula for both the European option price and the implied volatility, the calibration is usually done using time consuming methods like Monte Carlo simulation or the finite difference method.

To solve the above issue, we use the method of asymptotic expansion developed by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017). In paper **A**, we study the behaviour of the implied volatility with respect to the logarithmic strike price and maturity near expiry and at-the-money. We calculate explicitly the asymptotic expansions of implied volatility within a parabolic region up the second order. In paper **B** we improve the results obtain in paper A by calculating the asymptotic expansion of implied volatility under the Gatheral model up to order three. In paper **C**, we perform numerical studies on the asymptotic expansion up to the second order. The Monte-Carlo simulation is used as the benchmark value to check the accuracy of the expansions. We also proposed a partial calibration procedure using the expansions. The calibration procedure is implemented on real market data of daily implied volatility surfaces for an underlying market index and an underlying equity stock for periods both before and during the COVID-19 crisis. Finally, in paper **D** we check the performance of the third order expansion and compare it with the previous results.

This thesis is o	ledicated to the	memory of my l ibn Hamdiya	beloved gran	dfather

Acknowledgements

First and most importantly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor Professor Anatoliy Malyarenko who accepted to work with me as his PhD student under the Sida-Uppsala university and Al-Baha university cooperation program. I will be eternally indebted to Prof. Anatoliy for his unwavering support and constant encouragement ever since I walked into his office to discuss the initial idea of this work. I had hard time during the pandemic and the closure of boarders in my country and I understand the hard time that his home country is going through but he was always present, providing me with essential support, patient, guidance and encouragement throughout the entire project. I have learnt so much from him, not just about mathematics. I cannot adequately express how grateful I am to him. Thanks Prof. Anatoliy.

Next I would like to extend my thanks to my co-supervisor Prof. Sergei Silvestrov. Without his initiative and tireless effort with the Swedish international Science program (ISP) and Al Baha University, I would not be able to come here and start this wonderful journey. He is the one whose presence during this journey has helped smooth things out. Thank you for providing me with all essential documents and letters during the past four years. Thank you for a lot of advice on all things to do with our projects.

My sincere gratitude to my co-supervisor Dr. Ying Ni for her insightful comments, remarks and suggestions. Thanks for all your efforts to improve my mathematical computation. Also, I would like to thank co-supervisor Dr. Christopher Engström for advice on writing.

I am also grateful for Professor emeritus Dmitrii Silvestrov for his fruitful lectures in PhD courses. It was a great privilege to be a student with him listening to his insightful comments for the improvements of the PhD thesis and presentations during the courses.

I was lucky to have been part of the school of Education, Cultural and Communication (UKK), Mälardalen University for the past four years. I could not have asked for a better environment to pursue my dreams. Thanks to all the staff at UKK and special thanks to the head of the Division of Mathematics and Physics, UKK, Dr. Milica Rančić.

I do not want to miss this opportunity to express my gratitude to Al Baha

University for their trust and their generous scholarship. Also, thanks to my advisors in Saudi Cultural Bureau in Berlin: Abdulrahman Aikhdeyr and Afaf Touri. I also would like to thank the Swedish international development cooperation agency (Sida), International Science Program (ISP) and the representative of the cooperation program between Uppsala University and Al Baha University Dr. Olle Terenius.

I owe thanks to my fellow PhD students Marko Dimitrov for his valuable cooperation, German Garcia, Hossein Nohrouzian, the ones who have gone back to their home countries and our colleagues Dr. Jean-Paul Murara and Dr. Abdennour Kitouni, for nice moments we had together.

Finally, there is no possible way I can put into words the gratitude and appreciation I owe to my family. If it were not for the sincere prayers, unwavering support and constant encouragement I received from my family members from the first day I arrived in Västerås, I would not have been able to achieve my goals. I am deeply grateful to them.

Västerås, October, 20, 2022 Mohammed Albuhayri

This work was funded by the Ministry of Education in Saudi Arabia represented by Saudi Cultural Bureau in Berlin, Germany under the cooperation programme between Al Baha University, Saudi and International Science Program (ISP) at Uppsala University, Sweden











Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Finansiell matematik är en gren av sannolikhetsteorin som fokuserar på matematisk modellering på finansiella marknader. Varje gång när beteendet hos finansiella instrument på finansmarknaden förändras, utvecklas också motsvarande matematiska modeller som beskriver priserna. Till exempel var finansmarknadskraschen i oktober 1987 en vändpunkt för den berömda Black–Scholes-modellen från 1973. I efterdyningarna av finanskraschen var Black–Scholes modellantaganden starkt i konflikt med empiriska rön.

Spridningen av avkastningen för ett givet värdepapper eller marknadsindex mäts vanligtvis med en statistisk egenskap som kallas volatiliteten eller standardavvikelsen. Ju högre volatilitet, desto mer riskfyllt är värdepappret. Genom att jämföra marknadspriset för ett givet finansiellt instrument med det teoretiska priset som ges av Black–Scholes modellen får vi ett slags mått som kallas implicit volatilitet. Efter kraschen visade optionsmarknaderna ett volatilitetsleende: genom att rita den implicita volatiliteten för en grupp optioner mot lösenpriserna så fås en graf som ser ut som en leende mun. Black-Scholes-modellen förutsäger inte ett sådant beteende, eftersom den är baserad på antagandet om konstant volatilitet.

Att modellera volatilitet som en stokastisk process är lösningen! År 2009 genomfördes empiriska studier av Christoffersen et al. som visade att införandet av två tidsskalor i volatilitet, en snabb och en långsam, är effektiv för att fånga huvuddragen i de observerade termstrukturerna för implicit volatilitet. En populär teori som används inom finans antyder att både tillgångsprisvolatiliteten och den empiriska avkastningen så småningom återgår till det långa medelvärdet eller genomsnittsnivån. Följaktligen överväger vi Gatheral modellen där slumpmässiga faktorer beskrivs av en stokastisk volatilitetsmodell av medelåtergångstyp. Ingen lösning i sluten form för vare sig europeiskt optionspris eller implicit volatilitet finns i Gatheral modellen. Således, med hjälp av metoden av Pagliarani och Pascucci (2017), beräknar vi den så kallade asymptotiska expansionen av den implicita volatiliteten under Gatheral modellen upp till tredje ordningen. Med andra ord får vi en serie funktioner som har följande egenskap: trunkering av serien efter ett ändligt antal termer ger en approximation till en given funktion, i vårt fall till den implicita volatiliteten. Expansionen utförs med hänsyn till de två oberoende små parametrarna: det logaritmiska lösenpriset och optionens löptid. Den tredje ordningen innebär att approximationsfelet blir obetydligt med avseende på kuben för den första parametern och 1,5 potensen för den andra när både parameter går mot 0. Vi hittar den ekonomiska meningen med expansionen, utför numeriska studier och validerar vår resultat genom att jämföra dem med Monte Carlo-simuleringen.

Resultaten av vår forskning kan användas av både finansinstitutioner och enskilda handlare för att optimera sina inkomster.

Popular science summary

Financial mathematics is a branch of probability theory that focuses on mathematical modelling in financial markets. Each time when the behaviour of financial instruments in financial market evolves, the corresponding mathematical models describing the prices evolve as well. For instance, the financial market's crash of October 1987 was a turning point for the famous 1973 Black–Scholes model. In the aftermath of the financial crash, the assumptions of the Black–Scholes model were strongly conflicting with empirical findings.

The dispersion of returns for a given security or market index is usually measured by a statistical property called the volatility, or the standard deviation. The higher the volatility, the riskier the security. By comparing the market price of a given financial instrument with the theoretical price given by the Black–Scholes model, we obtain a kind of measure called the implied volatility. After the crash, option markets displayed a volatility smile: while plotting the implied volatility of a group of options against the strike prices, one obtains a graph looking as a smiling mouth. The Black–Scholes model does not predict such a behaviour, because it is based on the assumption of constant volatility.

Modeling volatility as a stochastic process is the solution! In 2009, empirical studies by Christoffersen et al. show that the introduction of two timescales in volatility, a fast and a slow, is efficient to capture the main features of the observed term structures of implied volatility. A popular theory used in finance suggests that both the asset price volatility and the empirical returns eventually return to the long-time mean value or average level. Accordingly, we consider the Gatheral model where random factors are described by a stochastic volatility model of mean-reversion type. No closedform solution for either European option price or implied volatility exists in the Gatheral model. Thus, using the method by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), we calculate the so called asymptotic expansion of the implied volatility under the Gatheral model up to the third order. In other words, we obtain a series of functions which has the following property: truncating the series after a finite number of terms provides an approximation to a given function, in our case, to the implied volatility. The expansion is performed with respect to the two independent small parameters: the logarithmic strike price and time to maturity of the option. The third order means that the error of the approximation becomes insignificant with respect to the cube of the first parameter and the 1.5 power of the second one as both tend to 0. We found the financial sense of the expansion, performed numerical studies and validated our results by comparing them to the Monte Carlo simulation.

The results of our research can be used by both financial institutions and individual traders for optimisation of their incomes.

Contents

Li	st of F	Papers	xiv
I	The	Thesis	1
1	Intro	oduction	2
	1.1	A Brief History	2
	1.2	The Brownian Motion	3
	1.3	The Bachelier Model	6
		1.3.1 Trading Strategies	6
		1.3.2 Martingale Measures	8
	1.4	The Black–Scholes Model	10
		1.4.1 Risk-Neutral Valuation	12
		1.4.2 The Black–Scholes Formula	13
	1.5	Local Volatility Models	14
		1.5.1 Correlated Wiener Processes	15
		1.5.2 Local Stochastic Volatility Models	15
		1.5.3 The Gatheral Model	16
	1.6	Implied Volatility	16
		1.6.1 Motivation	19
	1.7	Asymptotic Expansions	22
		1.7.1 Ordering Symbols O , \sim , and o	23
		1.7.2 Asymptotic Sequences	24
		1.7.3 Asymptotic Expansion	24

	1.8	A Survey of the Rest of the Thesis	26
2	The	Asymptotic Expansion of the Option Price	27
	2.1	Introduction	27
	2.2	The Backward Kolmogorov Equation	27
	2.3	The Formal Expansion of the Operator $\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z})$	33
		2.3.1 The Zeroth Term	33
		2.3.2 The First Term	34
		2.3.3 The Second Term	35
		2.3.4 The Third Term	36
	2.4	The Expansion	37
		2.4.1 The Zeroth Term	37
		2.4.2 Auxiliary calculations	38
		2.4.3 The First Term	41
		2.4.4 The Second Term	42
3	The	Asymptotic Expansion of Implied Volatility	46
	3.1	Introduction	47
	3.2	The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 0	50
	3.3	The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 1	51
	3.4	The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 2	53
	3.5	The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 3	62
4	Mod	lel Calibration	70
	4.1	Introduction	71
		4.1.1 Why We Do Calibration?	71
		4.1.2 What Error Function?	71
		4.1.3 What Market Data to Calibrate a Model?	72
	4.2	The Results	73
Bi	bliogi	raphy	77
A	Miso	cellaneous formulae	89
	A.1	The Bell Polynomials	89
	A.2	The Faà di Bruno Formula	90
	A 3		90

Index	92	
II Included Papers	93	

List of Papers

- **Paper A** Mohammed Albuhayri, Anatoliy Malyarenko, Sergei Silvestrov, Ying Ni, Christopher Engström, Finnan Tewolde, and Jiahui Zhang. "Asymptotics of Implied Volatility in the Gatheral Double Stochastic Volatility Model." Applied Modeling Techniques and Data Analysis 2: Financial, Demographic, Stochastic and Statistical Models and Methods 8 (2021): 27–38.
- **Paper B** Mohammed Albuhayri, Cristopher Engström, Anatoliy Malyarenko, Ying Ni, Sergei Silvestrov. An improved asymptotic of implied volatility in the Gatheral model. In Stochastic Processes, Statistical Methods, and Engineering Mathematics. SPAS 2019, volume 408 of Spring Proceedings, in Mathematics & Statistics, pages 3–14. Springer, 2022.
- Paper C Marko Dimitrov, Mohammed Albuhayri, Ying Ni, Anatoliy Malyarenko. "Numerical Studies of Implied Volatility Expansions Under the Gatheral Model." In Data Analysis and Related Applications 1. Computational, Algorithmic and Applied Economic Data Analysis, vol. 9 of Big data, artificial intelligence, and data analysis set, K. N. Zafeiris, C. H. Skiadas, Y. Dimotikalis, A. Karagrigoriu, C. Karagrigoriou-Vonta, (eds.), Wiley, 2022, Chapter 10, pp. 135–148.
- **Paper D** Mohammed Albuhayri, Sergei Silvestrov, Marko Dimitrov, Ying Ni, Anatoliy Malyarenko. Numerical Studies of the Implied Volatility Expansions up to Third Order under the Gatheral Model. Accepted for publication. Presented in the 7th Stochastic Modeling Techniques

and Data Analysis International Conference (SMTDA2022) and Demographics 2022 Workshop, (hybrid) Athens, Greece, June 7–10, 2022.

Parts of the thesis have been presented at the following international conferences:

- The 18th Conference of the Applied Stochastic Models and Data Analysis International Society (ASMDA2019) with Demographics Workshop, Florence, Italy, June 11–14, 2019.
- The 2nd International Conference "Stochastic Processes and Algebraic Structures From Theory Towards Applications" SPAS 2019, Västerås, Sweden, September 30–October 2, 2019.
- The 19th Conference of the Applied Stochastic Models and Data Analysis International Society (ASMDA2021) and Demographics 2021 Workshop, (online) Athens, Greece, June 1–4, 2021.
- The 7th Stochastic Modeling Techniques and Data Analysis International Conference (SMTDA2022) and Demographics 2022 Workshop, (hybrid) Athens, Greece, June 7–10, 2022.

Part I The Thesis

Chapter 1

Introduction

Financial Engineering is a part of applied mathematics that studies market models. We do not give here an exact definition of a market model, but rather consider several examples.

Historically, the first market model has been created in the PhD thesis by Bachelier (1900), reprinted in Bachelier (1995, 2012). To explain his model, we introduce the Brownian motion in Section 1.2. The Bachelier model is described in Section 1.3.

1.1 A Brief History

- Brown (1828) observes Brownian motion.
- Fick (1855) derives the diffusion equation.
- Einstein (1905) explains Brownian motion.
- Langevin (1908) derives his equation (the second Newton law) offering a Newtonian explanation of Brownian motion.
- Fokker (1914) and Planck (1917) derive a general forward equation (Einstein's 1905 derivation treats only a free Brownian particle)

- Wiener (1923) proves the existence of Brownian motion i.g. the mathematical existence of stochastic process satisfying the Einstein's 1905 postulates. This process we call today the *standard* Brownian motion or the Wiener process.
- Uhlenbeck and Ornstein (1930) develop the theory of Brownian motion based on the 1908 Langevin equation. It leads to a process which we call today the Ornstien-Uhlenbeck process.
- Kolmogoroff (1931) derives his forward and backward equations (the forward equation is the same as the one derived by Fokker (1914) and Planck (1917)).
- Itô (1944) introduces the Ito integral which leads to the development of *stochastic differential equation* as a mathematical mean of constructing and representing diffusion processes.

1.2 The Brownian Motion

Economy is uncertain. To construct a mathematical model of uncertainty in economy, we suppose that all possible states of economy form a set. Call it Ω . Certain subsets of the set Ω are called *events*. We suppose that the set of events is a σ -field.

Definition 1 (σ -field). A set of events \mathfrak{F} is called a σ -field if and only if

F1 The *impossible event*, \emptyset , is an event.

F2 If $A \subseteq \Omega$ is an event, then the set "not A",

$$\Omega \setminus A = \{ \omega \in \Omega : \omega \notin A \}$$

is an event.

F3 If $\{A_n : n \ge 1\}$ is a sequence of events, then its union is an event.

A pair (Ω, \mathfrak{F}) has its own name.

Definition 2 (sample space). A *sample space* is the set of all possible outcomes (Ω) .

Definition 3 (measurable space). A *measurable space* is a pair (Ω, \mathfrak{F}) , where Ω is a set, and \mathfrak{F} is a σ -field of subsets of Ω .

Next, we equip the measurable space with a filtration and a probability measure.

Definition 4 (filtration). A *filtration* is a non-decreasing family $\{ \mathfrak{F}_t : t \ge 0 \}$ of sub- σ -fields of \mathfrak{F} : if $0 \le s < t < \infty$, then $\mathfrak{F}_s \subseteq \mathfrak{F}_t \subseteq \mathfrak{F}$.

Definition 5 (probability measure). A *probability measure* on a measurable space (Ω, \mathfrak{F}) is a function $P \colon \mathfrak{F} \to [0, 1]$ satisfying

P1
$$P(\emptyset) = 0, P(\Omega) = 1.$$

P2 If $\{A_n : n \ge 1\}$ is a sequence of pairwise nonintersecting events, then

$$\mathsf{P}\left(\cup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_{n}\right)=\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\mathsf{P}(A_{n}).$$

The triple (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) has a special name.

Definition 6 (probability space). A triple $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, P)$ is called a *probability* space if ad only if (Ω, \mathfrak{F}) is a sample space and P is a probability measure on \mathfrak{F} .

The following definition is a technical requirement.

Definition 7 (usual conditions). A filtration $\{\mathfrak{F}_t : t \geq 0\}$ satisfies the *usual conditions* if and only if

U1 The filtration is right-continuous: for every $t \ge 0$

$$\mathfrak{F}_{t+}=\cap_{\varepsilon>0}\mathfrak{F}_{t+\varepsilon}=\mathfrak{F}_t.$$

U2 The σ -field \mathfrak{F}_0 contains all subsets of all *negligible events* $A \in \mathfrak{F}$, that is, the events A with P(A) = 0.

Definition 8 (filtered probability space). A *filtered probability space* is a quadruple $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P})$, where $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{P})$ is a probability space and $\{\mathfrak{F}_t : t \geq 0\}$ is a filtration satisfying the usual conditions.

Let T be a topological space.

Definition 9 (Borel set). The σ -field of Borel sets, $\mathfrak{B}(T)$, is the smallest σ -field containing all open sets of the space T. A *Borel set* is an element of $\mathfrak{B}(T)$.

Let d be a positive integer. Next, we consider some important mappings from Ω to \mathbb{R}^d .

Definition 10 (random vector). A mapping $X: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is called a *random vector* if and only if it is *measurable*, that is, for any $B \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, its inverse image

$$\mathbf{X}^{-1}(B) = \{ \omega \in \Omega \colon \mathbf{X}(\omega) \in B \}$$

is an event. A random vector \mathbf{X} is called a *random variable* if and only if d = 1.

In what follows, we denote random variables by capital Roman Latin letters X, Y, \ldots Now we introduce stochastic processes.

Definition 11 (stochastic process). A *stochastic process* is a collection of random variables $\{X(t): 0 \le t < \infty\}$.

The argument $t \in [0, \infty)$ of the random variables X(t) has an interpretation as *time*.

The most important example of a stochastic process is as follows.

Definition 12 (Brownian motion). A *Brownian motion* is a stochastic process $\{B(t): 0 \le t < \infty\}$ defined on a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P})$ such that

- **B1** B(t) is *adapted*: for all $t \ge 0$ the random variable B(t) is \mathfrak{F}_t -measurable.
- **B2** B(t) is continuous: for P-almost all $\omega_0 \in \Omega$ the function $B(t, \omega_0)$ of the variable $t \in [0, \infty)$ is continuous.

B3
$$P(B(0) = 0) = 1$$
.

B4 For $0 \le s < t$, the *increment* B(t) - B(s) is independent of \mathfrak{F}_s and is normally distributed with mean 0 and variance t - s.

Does such a process exist? The answer is positive, three different *explicit constructions* of a filtered probability space and a Brownian motions on it can be found in Karatzas and Shreve (1991, Chapter 2, Sections 2–4). The first one is based on the *Kolmogorov Extension Theorem*, see Daniell (1919), Kolmogoroff (1933) and subsequent editions and translations Kolmogorov (1950), Kolmogorov (1956), Kolmogoroff (1973), Kolmogorov (1974), Kolmogoroff (1977), and on the *Kolmogorov*–Čentsov Continuity Theorem, see Čentsov (1956). The second explicit construction is based on the original construction by Wiener (1923) with additions by Lévy (1948) and Ciesielski (1961). The third one is based on the ideas by Donsker (1951) and Prokhorov (1956).

In what follows, we replace the name "Brownian motion" with "Wiener process" and the notation B(t) with W(t) because of the historically first explicit construction given by Wiener (1923).

1.3 The Bachelier Model

The Bachelier model contains two securities: the stock and the bank account. The stock price S(t) is given by

$$S(t) = S(0) + \mu t + \sigma W(t), \qquad t \in [0, \infty),$$

where $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\sigma \in (0, \infty)$ are two constants, see Musiela and Rutkowski (2005, Subsection 3.3). The bank account is given by

$$B(t) = 1.$$

1.3.1 Trading Strategies

Let $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P})$ be a filtered probability space on which the Wiener process W(t) is defined. To discuss trading strategies, we need a technical definition.

Definition 13 (progressive measurability). A stochastic process X(t) defined on a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P})$ is called *progressively measurable* if and only if for every $t \in [0, \infty)$, the mapping $[0, t] \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, $(u, \omega) \mapsto X(u, \omega)$ is measurable with respect to the σ -field $\mathfrak{B}([0, t]) \times \mathfrak{F}_t$, that is, for any $B \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R})$, the inverse image

$$X^{-1}(B) = \{ (u, \omega) \in [0, t] \times \Omega \colon X(u, \omega) \in B \}$$

belongs to the σ -field $\mathfrak{B}([0,t]) \times \mathfrak{F}_t$.

Definition 14 (trading strategy). A *trading strategy* is a pair $(X_1(t), X_2(t))$ of progressively measurable stochastic processes.

At any time moment t, the random variable $X_1(t)$ is the number of units of the stock in the *trader's portfolio*, while $X_2(t)$ is the number of units of the bank account there. We have that the time t price of the portfolio is given by the *wealth process* or *portfolio process*

$$V(t) = X_1(t)S(t) + X_2(t)B(t).$$
(1.1)

The most important trading strategies or portfolio processes are self-financing ones. Intuitively, a trading strategy or the corresponding portfolio process (1.1) is self-financing on a finite trading interval [0, T] if at any time moment $t \in (0, T]$ there are no cash flows inside or outside the portfolio. It turns out that this condition can be easily formulated mathematically.

Theorem 1. A trading strategy $(X_1(t), X_2(t))$ is self-financing if and only if

$$V(t) = V(0) + \int_0^t X_1(u) \, dS(u) + \int_0^t X_2(u) \, dB(u), \qquad t \in [0, T]. \quad (1.2)$$

In Equation (1.2), the second integral is the pathwise Lebesgue integral, while the first integral is the Itô integral constructed by Itô (1944). The construction of Itô integral can be found in many sources, see Karatzas and Shreve (1991), Musiela and Rutkowski (2005), among many others. In some sources, for example, Musiela and Rutkowski (2005, Definition 3.3.1), the conclusion of Theorem 1 serves as the *definition* of a self-financing trading strategy.

Some self-financing trading strategies can produce money from nothing. Mathematically, such a trading strategy is called an *arbitrage opportunity*.

Definition 15 (arbitrage opportunity). A self-financing trading strategy is called an *arbitrage opportunity* if and only if its wealth process (1.1) satisfies the following conditions.

A1
$$V(0) = 0$$
.

A2
$$V(T) \ge 0$$
.

A3
$$P(V(T) > 0) > 0$$
.

The corresponding portfolio process (1.1) is often called a *free lunch portfolio*.

How to check if a given market model, in particular, the Bachelier one, contains an arbitrage opportunity? We need more theory.

1.3.2 Martingale Measures

Let P_1 and P_2 be two probability measures on a measurable space (Ω, \mathfrak{F}) .

Definition 16 (equivalent measures). The probability measures P_1 and P_2 are called *equivalent* if and only if they have the same null events, that is, for any event A, we have $P_1(A) = 0$ if and only if $P_2(A) = 0$.

Definition 17 (martingale). A stochastic process X(t) defined on a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P})$ is called a *martingale* if and only if

M1 X(t) is *adapted*, that is, the random variable X(t) is \mathfrak{F}_t -measurable for all $t \in [0, T]$.

M2
$$E[|X(t)|] < \infty, t \in [0, T].$$

M3
$$E[X(t) | \mathfrak{F}_s] = X(s), 0 \le s \le t \le T.$$

Definition 18 (martingale measure). A probability measure P^* defined on a measurable space (Ω, \mathfrak{F}_T) is called a *martingale measure* for the discounted price process $S^*(t) = \frac{S(t)}{B(t)}$ if and only if

MM1 The measure P^* is equivalent to the restriction of P to \mathfrak{F}_T .

MM2 The discounted price process $S^*(t)$ is a martingale on the filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P}^*)$.

Remark 1. It is possible to develop a more general theory, where the class of martingales is replaced by a much wider class of *local martingales*, see, e,g., Musiela and Rutkowski (2005). In this thesis, we do not develop and never use such a general theory.

The usefulness of the introduced notions is clarified by the following result.

Theorem 2 (The Fundamental Theorem of Financial Engineering, part 1). For a wide class of market models, including the Bachelier one, the following conditions are equivalent.

- The market model does not contain arbitrage opportunities.
- There exists a martingale measure for the discounted price process $S^*(t)$.

Is the second condition of Theorem 2 hold true for the Bachelier model? To give an answer to this question, we need a technical tool.

Let W(t) be a Wiener process on a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_t, \mathsf{P})$. Let γ be a real number. The random variable $Y = \exp(\gamma W(T))$ is positive. Moreover, we have $\mathsf{E}[Y] = \exp(\gamma^2 T/2)$. The random variable $Z = \exp(\gamma W(T) - \gamma^2 T/2)$ is positive with $\mathsf{E}[Z] = 1$. Let A be an event in \mathfrak{F}_T , and let \mathbb{I}_A be the indicator of A:

$$\mathbb{1}_A(\omega) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \omega \in A, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

It is easy to see that the probability measure P^* given by

$$\mathsf{P}^*(A) = \mathsf{E}[Z\mathbb{1}_A], \qquad A \in \mathfrak{F}_T$$

is equivalent to P.

Theorem 3 (The Girsanov Theorem, Girsanov (1960)). The stochastic process $W^*(t) = W(t) - \gamma t$, $0 \le t \le T$, is a Wiener process on the filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_t, \mathcal{F}_t, \mathsf{P}^*)$.

In particular, consider the case of $\gamma = -\mu/\sigma$. The stochastic process $W^*(t) = W(t) - \gamma t$ is a Wiener process under the measure P* with Radon–Nikodym density

$$\frac{d\mathsf{P}^*}{d\mathsf{P}} = \exp\left(\gamma W(T) - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 T\right).$$

Moreover, under P*,

$$S(t) = S(0) + \sigma W^*(t)$$

which is a martingale.

1.4 The Black-Scholes Model

According to Samuelson (2002),

As I expected, the 1914 popular Bachelier exposition was not in the limited MIT library. But a greater treasure was there: the 1900 Paris thesis and the 1912 item.

In the above citation, "the 1914 popular Bachelier exposition" is Bachelier (1914), reprinted in Bachelier (1929), Bachelier (1993), Bachelier (2018). "The 1912 item" is Bachelier (1912), reprinted in Bachelier (1992).

After rediscovering the 1900 Bachelier thesis, Samuelson published a paper Samuelson (1965), reprinted in Samuelson (2015). His ideas were extended by his PhD student Merton (1973) and independently and simultaneously by Black and Scholes (1973), reprinted in Black and Scholes (2012). Like the Bachelier model, the Black–Scholes one contains two securities, the bank account, B(t), and the stock, S(t). Their dynamics is given by the following system of equations.

$$dB(t) = rB(t) dt,$$
 $B(0) = 1,$
 $dS(t) = \mu S(t) dt + \sigma S(t) dW(t),$ $S(0) = S_0.$ (1.3)

The first equation is an ordinary differential equation, where the *spot interest* rate r is constant. The second equation is a stochastic differential equation,

just a shortcut which is customary to write instead of a longer but more correct stochastic integral equation

$$S(t) = S_0 + \int_0^t \mu S(u) \, du + \int_0^t \sigma S(u) \, dW(u), \tag{1.4}$$

where, as usual, the first integral is a pathwise Lebesgue integral, while the second one is an Itô stochastic integral.

The number $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ is called the *appreciation rate* of the stock price, while the number $\sigma > 0$ is called *volatility*.

Theorem 4. The Black–Scholes model has the following properties.

• The stochastic process

$$S(t) = S_0 \exp(\sigma W(t) + (\mu - \sigma^2/2)t), \quad t \in [0, T]$$

is the unique solution of the second equation in (1.3) or equivalently, Equation (1.4).

• The discounted stock price

$$S^*(t) = \frac{S(t)}{B(t)} = e^{-rt}S(t)$$

is a martingale if and only if $\mu = r$.

• The unique martingale measure P^* for the process $S^*(t)$ is given by the Radon–Nikodym derivative

$$\frac{d\mathsf{P}^*}{d\mathsf{P}} = \exp\left(\frac{r-\mu}{\sigma}W(T) - \frac{1}{2}\frac{(r-\mu)^2}{\sigma^2}T\right).$$

Moreover, under P*,

$$dS^*(t) = \sigma S^*(t) dW^*(t),$$

where the stochastic process

$$W^*(t) = W(t) - \frac{r - \mu}{\sigma}t, \qquad t \in [0, T]$$

is a Wiener process under P*.

This result is proved in Musiela and Rutkowski (2005). The first item in Theorem 4 is their Proposition 3.1.1, the second one is Corollary 3.1.2, the third one is Lemma 3.1.3.

1.4.1 Risk-Neutral Valuation

One of the properties given in Theorem 4 is very important.

Definition 19. A *contingent claim* is a random variable X. A contingent claim X is called *European* if it is \mathcal{F}_T -measurable.

Intuitively, a contingent claim X represents the payoff of a financial instrument. The payoff of a European contingent claim becomes known at *maturity*, or expiry date T. For example, a *European call option* with *strike price* K has payoff

$$X = \max\{S(T) - K, 0\}.$$

Economically, at time T, the owner of X has right, but not obligation, to buy one unit of stock S and pay K money units. If $S(T) \le K$, then he/she will not use this right, and we say that the option is *out-of-the-money*. Otherwise, the owner pays K money units for the one unit of the stock and immediately sells it. His/her gain is the difference in prices, S(T) - K, the option is *in-the-money*.

Definition 20. A self-financing portfolio process V(t) given by Equation (1.1) is called *replicating* for a European contingent claim X if

$$V(T) = X$$
.

A European contingent claim *X* is called *attainable* if there exists a replicating portfolio for *X*.

Part 1 of the Fundamental Theorem of Financial Engineering (Theorem 2) holds true for the Black–Scholes model. It is easy to see that the time t no-arbitrage price of an attainable contingent claim X is equal to V(t), the time t price of the replicating portfolio. If not, the reader can easily construct an arbitrage opportunity, that is, a portfolio satisfying Definition 15.

Is a European call option attainable in the Black–Scholes model? The answer is positive.

Definition 21. A no-arbitrage market model is called *complete* if and only if every European contingent claim is attainable.

Theorem 5 (The Fundamental Theorem of Financial Engineering, part 2). *For a wide class of market models, including the Bachelier and the Black–Scholes one, the following conditions are equivalent.*

- The market model is complete.
- There exists a unique martingale measure P^* for the discounted price process $S^*(t)$.

Under these conditions, the time t no-arbitrage price of any European contingent claim X that settles at time T is

$$\pi_t(X) = B(t) \mathsf{E}^* [B^{-1}(T)X \mid \mathfrak{F}_t].$$

As we see, the discounted stock price process may be considered as a fair game in a risk-neutral economy, where the probabilities of future stock fluctuations are determined by the martingale measure P*. By this reason, the above measure is also called *risk-neutral*.

Note that different variants of the Fundamental Theorems of Financial Engineering were proved in the papers by Harrison and Pliska (1981, 1983), Dalang et al. (1990), Delbaen and Schachermayer (1994, 1995a,b, 1998), Schachermayer (1994), Levental and Skorohod (1995), Yan (1998), Barski and Zabczyk (2010), Kardaras (2010), Wong and Heyde (2010), Bouchard et al. (2014), Takaoka and Schweizer (2014), Cuchiero et al. (2016), and in the book by Delbaen and Schachermayer (2006).

1.4.2 The Black-Scholes Formula

For the case of a European call option in the Black–Scholes model, the time t no-arbitrage price was explicitly calculated independently by Black and Scholes (1973), reprinted in Black and Scholes (2012), and Merton (1973). From now on, denote by $\tau = T - t > 0$ time to maturity. Let $d_+(s,t)$ and $d_-(s,t)$ be two functions of two positive real variables s and t defined by

$$d_{\pm}(s,t) = \frac{\ln(s/K) + (r \pm \sigma^2/2)t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}},$$

(recall that K, r, and σ are constants). Finally, let

$$N(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{x} \exp(-y^2/2) \, dy$$

be the cumulative distribution function of the standard normal distribution.

Theorem 6 (Black and Scholes (1973); Merton (1973)). The time t noarbitrage price of a European call option in the Black–Scholes model is given by

$$C(t) = S(t)N(d_{+}(S(t),\tau)) - Ke^{-r\tau}N(d_{-}(S(t),\tau)). \tag{1.5}$$

Following Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), in what follows we put r = 0. From now on, we introduce the logarithmic stock price and the logarithmic strike price by

$$x = \ln(S(t)), \qquad k = \ln K.$$

With this convention, and in new variables, the Black–Scholes price becomes

$$u^{BS}(\sigma, \tau, x, k) = e^{x} N(d_{+}(e^{x}, \tau)) - e^{k} N(d_{-}(e^{x}, \tau)).$$
 (1.6)

1.5 Local Volatility Models

In practice, market prices of options cannot be explained by the Black–Scholes model. One possible solution to this problem is as follows. Following Dupire (1997), we *postulate* that under a martingale measure the stock price satisfies the following equation:

$$dS(t) = \eta(t, S(t))S(t) dW^*(t), S(0) = S_0.$$

The coefficient $\eta(t, S(t))$ is called a *local volatility function*.

We assume that the local volatility function satisfies another stochastic equation. We need to introduce a new concept here.

1.5.1 Correlated Wiener Processes

We follow (Musiela and Rutkowski, 2005, Subsection 7.1.9). Let d and n be two positive integers. Let $\tilde{W}_1(t), \ldots, \tilde{W}_d(t)$ be d independent copies of a Wiener process. Let $\mathbf{B}^i(t)$ be $n \mathbb{R}^d$ -valued progressively measurable processes such that $B^i(t) \neq \mathbf{0}$ for every $t \in [0, \infty)$ and $i = 1, \ldots, n$. It is possible to prove that the n stochastic processes given by

$$W_{i}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{B_{j}^{i}(t)}{\|\mathbf{B}^{i}(t)\|} d\tilde{W}_{j}(u)$$

are Wiener processes. Moreover, the time t correlation matrix of the \mathbb{R}^n -valued stochastic process with components $W_i(t)$ has entries

$$\rho_{ij}(t) = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d} B_k^i(t) B_k^j(t)}{\|\mathbf{B}^i(t)\| \cdot \|\mathbf{B}^j(t)\|} \in [-1, 1].$$

1.5.2 Local Stochastic Volatility Models

Following Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), we assume that under a martingale probability measure, the market model is described by a \mathbb{R}^d -valued stochastic process $(S(t), Y_2(t), \dots, Y_d(t))^{\mathsf{T}}$ that satisfies the following system of stochastic differential equations:

$$dS(t) = \eta_1(t, S(t), \mathbf{Y}(t))S(t) dW_1^*(t), S(0) = s, dY_i(t) = \mu_i(t, S(t), \mathbf{Y}(t)) dt + \eta_i(t, S(t), \mathbf{Y}(t)) dW_i^*(t), \mathbf{Y}(0) = \mathbf{y},$$
(1.7)

where $2 \le i \le d$, S(t) is the price of a risky security, s is a deterministic positive number, $\mathbf{Y}(t)$ is a vector with components $Y_i(t)$, $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ is a deterministic vector, and the time t correlation matrix of the \mathbb{R}^d -valued stochastic process with components $W_i^*(t)$ has entries

$$\rho_{ij}(t,S(t),\mathbf{Y}(t)) \in [-1,1].$$

In what follows, we refer to this model as a local stochastic volatility model.

1.5.3 The Gatheral Model

As an example, we consider the double-mean-reverting market model proposed by Gatheral (2008). In a subsequent publication Bayer et al. (2013), it is given as follows.

$$dS(t) = \sqrt{v(t)}S(t) dW_1^*(t),$$

$$dv(t) = \kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t)) dt + \xi_1 v^{\alpha_1}(t) dW_2^*(t),$$

$$dv'(t) = \kappa_2(\theta - v'(t)) dt + \xi_2 v'^{\alpha_2}(t) dW_3^*(t),$$
(1.8)

and the time t correlation matrix of the \mathbb{R}^3 -valued stochastic process with components $W_i^*(t)$ has entries

$$\rho_{ij}(t, S(t), \mathbf{Y}(t)) = \rho_{ij} \in [-1, 1].$$

Compare this system with (1.7). We see that d = 3, $Y_2(t) = v(t)$, $Y_3(t) = v'(t)$,

$$\eta_{1}(v(t)) = \sqrt{v(t)}, \qquad \mu_{1} = 0,
\eta_{2}(v(t)) = \xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t), \quad \mu_{2}(v(t), v'(t)) = \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t)),
\eta_{3}(v'(t)) = \xi_{2}v'^{\alpha_{2}}(t), \qquad \mu_{3}(v'(t)) = \kappa_{2}(\theta - v'(t)).$$
(1.9)

The reason why we choose this model, was described by Bayer et al. (2013) as follows

Thus variance mean-reverts to a level that itself moves slowly over time with the state of the economy.

1.6 Implied Volatility

The European call options are traded on the market, however the stock's volatility, σ , is not directly observable. A possible solution to this problem is as follows. It is well known that the Black–Sholes price (1.5) with r = 0 satisfies the following boundary value problem for the *Black–Scholes partial*

differential equation

$$\frac{\partial C(S,t)}{\partial t} + \frac{\sigma^2}{2} S^2 \frac{\partial^2 C(S,t)}{\partial S^2} = 0,$$

$$\lim_{t \uparrow T} C(S,t) = \max\{0, S - K\}$$
(1.10)

with $(S,t) \in (0,\infty) \times (0,T)$. Berestycki et al. (2002) describe a possible solution as follows

... it is common practice to start from the observed prices and invert the closed-form solution to (2) in order to find that constant σ — called *implied volatility* — for which the solution to (2) agrees with the market price at today's value of the stock.

Note that their Equation (2) is our Equation (1.10).

The literature on implied volatility for the options is huge and exploits several range of mathematical methods. The first appearance of implied volatility in history goes back to 1976 when it was first mentioned under the name "implied standard deviation" by Latane and Rendleman (1976). In their paper "standard deviations of stock price ratios implied in option prices", they suggest for the first time that implied volatility should be derived from traded options in the market:

"If the assumptions underlying the Black and Scholes model were completely valid and the option market were completely efficient, then at any point in time all options on a particular stock would be priced with the same monthly standard deviation. As a practical matter, however, it is not likely that this will be the case, even in a market which is highly efficient. This is due to the fact that some options are more dependent upon a precise specification of the standard deviation than other".

Focusing to address the unrealistic assumption of constant volatility for pricing options in Black–Scholes model, the interest to investigate and identify the market implied volatility has grown substantially in both academia and industry. Many well-known models have been obtained to capture empirical features of financial prices. Among these models, models proposed by Cox

and Ross (1976), Vasicek (1977), Hull and White (1990), Heston (1993), Hagan et al. (2002), Henry-Labordere (2008), Benhamou et al. (2010a), and Fouque et al. (2011). For an extensive comparison and overview of volatility models, we refer the reader to Gatheral (2011).

As volatility modelling evolves and takes shapes over the years, more studies emerged. Christoffersen et al. (2009) propose using a two-factor stochastic volatility model in response to the deficiencies of the single-factor regarding the ability to demonstrate large independent fluctuations in the level and the slope of volatility smirk. They conclude that the addition of volatility factors to an existing framework improves the model's flexibility to capture the volatility term structure. Merville and Pieptea (1989) find that market volatility follows a mixed mean-reverting diffusion with noise process and suggested that volatility is strong mean reverting. In recent studies, Lorig et al. (2017b) consider a general class of multi-factor local-stochastic volatility models with hybrid dynamics.

Another aspect of the evolution of implied volatility focused on the versatility of its modelling. A robust model of implied volatility has to capture the dynamics and the characteristics of the implied volatility surface along various strike prices and expiration dates. Moreover, calibrating models to market data and the stability of parameters and the quality of the fit are essentials. The calibration in models which lack closed-form formula for implied volatility is often time consuming or might lead to numerical instabilities. To overcome this dilemma, several results have been obtained to translate models formulations to explicit implied volatility expansions via techniques from perturbation theory, heat kernel, PDEs, large deviation and Malliavin calculus. We review some of these approaches.

Hagan and Woodward (1999) use singular perturbation methods to obtain an expansions formula for implied volatility for general local volatility models. In addition, regular perturbation methods as well as Fourier analysis were used by Jacquier and Lorig (2013) to derive an expansion for implied volatility for the same class of models. Both methods were combined and extended to general stochastic volatility models by Fouque et al. (2016). Large deviation methods have been employed by Forde and Jacquier (2009) to obtain small-time asymptotic behaviour of implied volatility under Heston model. Henry-Labordère (2005) derive a general asymptotic implied volatility at the first-

order for any local stochastic volatility model using the heat kernel expansion on a Riemann manifold. Another contribution is due to Watanabe (1987) as well as the recent work by Benhamou et al. (2010b) who obtain closed-form approximation for implied volatility in local stochastic volatility sitting using Malliavin calculus.

Finally, we mention the recent results obtained by Lorig et al. (2017b) whose approach combine technique from perturbation theory with Dyson series to obtain approximations for partial differential equations. These authors calculated asymptotic expansions for implied volatilities and their derivatives which asymptotically converge to the exact values within a parabolic region in the space of log-strike and time to maturity. Their methodology builds upon a series of papers including Pagliarani and Pascucci (2012) in which they obtain asymptotic formulas for implied volatility for scalar diffusions. The approach was extended later for scalar Levy-type processes in Pagliarani et al. (2013) and Lorig et al. (2015).

1.6.1 Motivation

Beginning from the idea of Bachelier presented in his doctoral thesis at the Ecole Polytechnique in Paris, 1900 of using Brownian motion to model uncertainty in price behaviour, Black and Scholes (1973) assume that the asset price follows a geometric Brownian motion with constant drift and volatility. According to Black and Scholes model, the asset price S(t), t > 0, is governed by the following stochastic differential equation:

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sigma S(t) dW(t),$$

where μ and σ are assumed to be constant and denote the drift and volatility receptively, W(t), t>0 is a standard Brownian motion. It was the first model that produces a simple closed-form formula which computes the prices of European call and put options. In 1973 Merton contributed to the result of Black and Scholes and enhanced the option formula. Scholes and Merton received the Nobel prize for their work in economics in 1997, unfortunately Black passed away in 1995. On the 19th of October 1987 the world woke up to witness a sudden, sever and largely unexpected stock market crash, it

was known as the **Black Monday**. Worldwide losses were estimated at 1.71\$ trillion.

The crash causes unprecedented patterns for the implied volatility, the new patterns that arise in options pricing resemble smiles (skews) shapes. Governments, financial markets and banks impose new regulations and restrictions to limit the impact of the crash. The crash also open the door for new researches and ideas in the field of mathematical finance.

The ability of the Black–Scholes model to provide adequate prices for options was questionable. Moreover, experimental studies that follow the 1987 crash suggest that the assumption of the Black–Scholes model that underlying returns being normally distributed with constant volatility does not hold. The option prices observed in the financial markets show that volatility is nonconstant quantity and the behaviour of the volatility can be described by a stochastic mean-reverting process.

Trying to overcome the inadequacy of the Black and Scholes model by assuming that the volatility is modelled as a stochastic process, stochastic volatility model were born. Hull and White are the first authors to introduce the stochastic volatility model in mathematical finance in Hull and White (1987). The dynamics of asset price in Hull and White model follows:

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sqrt{v(t)}S(t) dW_1^*(t),$$

$$dv(t) = \theta v(t)dt + \xi v(t) dW_2^*(t),$$

where v(t), t > 0 and μ is the stochastic variance and the drift of the asset price S(t), t > 0 at time t, and θ and ξ are the drift and the volatility coefficients of the variance respectively, $dW_1^*(t)$ and $dW_2^*(t)$ are two Brownian motions with correlation $\rho = [-1, 1]$. The parameters θ , ξ and μ are real constants and $\theta < 0$. The issue of this model is that it is inaccurate when the variance is stochastic. Also, the assumption that $\rho = 0$ is not supported by observations of the prices in the financial market.

In response to the weakness in Hull and White model, the Stein and Stein model was proposed Stein and Stein (1991). It assumes that the underlying asset follows:

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sigma(t)S(t) dW_1^*(t),$$

$$d\sigma(t) = \eta(\theta - \sigma(t))dt + \xi dW_2^*(t),$$

where μ , η , θ , and ζ are fixed constants and when $\eta > 0$, the stochastic volatility $\sigma(t)$, t > 0 is governed by Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process with a tendency to revert back to a long-run average level θ . The model assumes that the volatility is uncorrelated with the spot asset and that makes it unable to capture important skewness effects that appear in such correlation.

Since its introduction in 1993, the Heston model has become one of the most popular stochastic volatility models. In Heston (1993) the model assumes that the asset price S(t), t > 0 follows the following process:

$$\begin{split} dS(t) &= \mu S(t) dt + \sqrt{v(t)} S(t) \, dW_1^*(t), \\ dv(t) &= \kappa(\theta - v(t)) dt + \xi \sqrt{v(t)} \, dW_2^*(t), \end{split}$$

where the variance process v(t) reverts to long-run level of θ , κ is the rate of mean-reversion, and ξ is the volatility of the volatility coefficient. The model depends on real constants μ , θ , κ and ξ and κ is positive. The variance in Heston model follows a Cox–Ingersoll–Ross process. The introduction of the model in mathematical finance was revolutionary due to the fact that the model admit a closed form solution for European call (put) option. However, the Heston model suffers when it comes to predicting the option prices for short term as the model fails to capture the high implied volatility, see Jäckel (2004).

Since the pioneering work of the previous authors, many other stochastic volatility models have been introduced and it is not possible to mention all of them. However, it is important to mention the sophisticated work by Christoffersen et al. 2009. In Christoffersen et al. (2009) they presented an empirical studies "The shape and term structure of the index option smirk: why multi-factor stochastic volatility models work so well". Christoffersen et al. (2009) propose using a two-factor stochastic volatility model in response to the deficiencies of the single-factor regarding the ability to demonstrate large independent fluctuations in the level and the slope of volatility smirk. They conclude that the addition of volatility factors are needed to improve the model's flexibility to capture the volatility term structure.

Christoffersen et al. (2009) suggest that the price process is determined by

two factors stochastic volatility process:

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sqrt{v_1(t)}S(t) dW_1^*(t) + \sqrt{v_2(t)}S(t) dW_2^*(t),$$

$$dv_1(t) = \kappa_1(\theta_1 - v_1(t))dt + \xi_1\sqrt{v_1(t)} dW_3^*(t)$$

$$dv_2(t) = \kappa_2(\theta_2 - v_2(t))dt + \xi_2\sqrt{v_2(t)} dW_4^*(t),$$

where the variance of the stock return is the sum of v_1 and v_2 . Moreover, it can be the sum of two uncorrelated factors that might be correlated individually with the stock returns. For instance, $W_1^*(t)$ and $W_3^*(t)$ has correlation ρ_1 , and $W_2^*(t)$ and $W_4^*(t)$ has correlation ρ_2 , but all other correlations are zero. More specifically, correlations are zero for the following pairs: $(W_1^*(t), W_4^*(t))$, $(W_2^*(t), W_3^*(t))$, $(W_1^*(t), W_2^*(t))$ and $(W_3^*(t), W_4^*(t))$.

Thus, pricing options under double stochastic volatility model gains some popularity in the recent years. We choose the Gatheral double stochastic volatility model which was first proposed in Gatheral (2008). The model is given by system of stochastic differential equations 1.8. There is no analytical solution for European options nor an implied volatility under this model. Moreover, the model proves to be versatile in term of pricing both options on SPX and VIX with the market in Gatheral (2008) and in a subsequent publication Bayer et al. (2013) but since there was no closed-form solution for European options, the calibration was not easy. Lastly, we have the result by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017) to calculate the implied volatility for general class of double stochastic volatility model, and the Gatheral model can be a special case of their model. Thus, equipped with the result of Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), we conduct studies to calculate the asymptotic expansions of implied volatility for European options under Gatheral model up to third order. We also check the accuracy of the expansions against the Monte-Carlo benchmark and calibrate the model parameters to real market data.

1.7 Asymptotic Expansions

There are many problems in mathematics which are hard to solve, where the governing equations contain many variables that are nonlinear and do not have exact analytical solutions. Therefore, we are forced to resort to either

approximations or numerical solutions or combinations of both. Among approximation methods, one method stands out; *asymptotic expansions*.

The modern theory of asymptotic expansion was proposed by Stieltjes (1886) and Poincaré (1886). According to this theory, it is usually sufficient to represent the solution and give a very accurate approximation to a *complicated* function by the first few terms of an asymptotic expansion, no more than two or three terms in most cases.

1.7.1 Ordering Symbols O, \sim , and o

The order of magnitude of functions is fundamental in asymptotic analysis. The exact mathematical meaning of the order of magnitude is provided by the so called **Bachmann–Landau notations**.

Following Erdélyi (1956), let the variable x ranges over a set R and x_0 is the base point of R not necessarily belonging to R. f(x), g(x) stand for real or complex valued functions defined when x is in R.

One writes

$$f(x) = O(g(x)),$$

in R as $x \to x_0$ if $g(x) \ne 0$ and f(x)/g(x) is bounded as $x \to x_0$ in R.

It means that f(x) is order big O of g(x) or f(x) is asymptotically bounded by g(x), as $x \to x_0$.

If the $\lim_{x\to +x_0} f(x)/g(x)$ exists and is equal to 1 as we approaching a point of interest, then

$$f(x) \sim g(x)$$
.

It means that f(x) is asymptotically equal to g(x) as $x \to x_0$.

For the "little o" one writes

$$f(x) = o(g(x)),$$

in R as $x \to x_0$ if $f(x) \neq 0$ and $f(x)/g(x) \to 0$ as $x \to x_0$.

It means that f(x) is asymptotically smaller than g(x) or f(x) tends to 0 faster than g(x) does as $x \to x_0$.

1.7.2 Asymptotic Sequences

Definition 22. Let $\phi_1(x), \phi_2(x)$,....., denote a finite or infinite sequence of functions abbreviated as $\{\phi_j(x)\}$. The sequence of functions $\{\phi_j(x)\}$ is called an *asymptotic sequence* for $x \to x_0$ in R if for each j, $\{\phi_j(x)\}$ is defined in R and

$$\phi_{i+1}(x) = o(\phi_i(x))$$
 as $x \to x_0$

in R.

If the sequence is infinite and $\phi_{j+1}(x) = o(\phi_j(x))$ uniformly in j, then $\{\phi_j(x)\}$ is considered to be an *asymptotic sequence uniformly* in j. If the $\{\phi_j(x)\}$ depends on parameters and $\phi_{j+1}(x) = o(\phi_j(x))$, then $\{\phi_j(x)\}$ is considered to be an *asymptotic sequence uniformly* in the parameters.

1.7.3 Asymptotic Expansion

Definition 23. Let $\{\phi_j(x)\}$ be an asymptotic sequence for $x \to x_0$ in R; f(x) is a numerical function of x defined on R; and a is a constant (i.e., independent of x). The formal series $\sum a_j \phi_j(x)$ not necessarily convergent, is said to be an *asymptotic expansion* to N terms of f(x) in the form of Poincaré as $x \to x_0$ if:

$$f(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_j \phi_j(x) + o(\phi_N) \text{ as } x \to x_0.$$
 (1.11)

It means the partial sum $\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_j \phi_j(x)$ is an approximation to f(x) with an error $o(\phi_N)$ as $x \to x_0$. Sometimes this is written as

$$f(x) - \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_j \phi_j(x) \ll (\phi_N) \text{ as } x \to x_0,$$

which is read as the error or the reminder is much less the last term in the sum.

If such an asymptotic expansion exists, it is unique and It follows that the coefficients in asymptotic expansion to N terms can be determined using the following recurrence formula

$$a_m = \lim_{x \to +x_0} \{ [f(x) - \sum_{m=1}^{m-1} a_j \phi_j(x)] / \phi_m(x) \} \ m = 1,, N$$

We write

$$f(x) \sim \sum a_j \phi_j(x),$$

to *N* terms as $x \to x_0$ in *R*, if the function f(x) possesses an asymptotic expansion. It is frequently written as $f(x) \sim a_j \phi_j(x)$ which means that $f(x)/\phi_j(x)$ tends to a_j as $x \to x_0$

Theorem 7. If we have N+1 functions, $f(x), \phi_1(x), ..., \phi_N(x)$ defined in R. It follows that $\{\phi_j\}$ is an asymptotic sequence for $x \to x_0$ and $\sum a_j \phi_j$ is an asymptotic expansion for N terms of f(x) as $x \to x_0$ provided (1.11) holds and $a_m \neq 0$ for m = 1, ..., N.

Remark 2. The choice of the asymptotic sequence obviously effects the form of an asymptotic expansion. Furthermore, the same function might have different asymptotic expansions. For example, as $x \to \infty$,

1.

$$\frac{1}{x-1} \sim \sum_{1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{x^n}.$$

2.

$$\frac{1}{x-1} \sim \sum_{1}^{\infty} \frac{x+1}{x^{2n}},$$

see Copson (2004, p. 7).

In addition, two different functions might have the same asymptotic expansion.

1.8 A Survey of the Rest of the Thesis

This thesis is divided into two main parts: part one is devoted to the thesis and part two contains four articles. In the first part of the thesis we have four chapters. The current chapter, **Chapter 1** is about a survey of literature, we describes some definitions and theorems and introduce generally some major concepts to be used in the later chapters. We also include several enlightening examples and description of the previous work that related to stochastic volatility models to motivate the work done in latter chapters.

Chapter 2 is the base of the Paper A and B and investigates the theoretical part of the thesis where we first have to prove that the Gatheral model satisfies the assumptions by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017). Then, based on the results by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), we use asymptotic expansions method to calculate option price under the Gatheral model. Using the results in Chapter 2, we go through heavy calculations in Chapter 3 to compute the asymptotic expansions of the implied volatility up to third order. This chapter is based on Paper A and B. Chapter 4 is based on paper C and paper D and it briefly describes the practical part of the work and summarises the results.

Chapter 2

The Asymptotic Expansion of the Option Price

2.1 Introduction

In order to derive explicit expansions for that the implied volatility, it is essential to expand the call prices around a Black-Scholes price. This chapter is dedicated to the derivation of option prices under the Gatheral model. However, one need to first check that the Gatheral model satisfies the assumptions given in Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), then expand operator $\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z})$ by replacing the coefficients $a_{ij}(t, s, y_2, y_3)$ and $a_i(t, s, y_2, y_3)$ with their Taylor series around $\overline{\mathbf{z}} = (s_0, v_0, v_0')$.

2.2 The Backward Kolmogorov Equation

Following Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Equation (3.1)), introduce the following function:

$$V(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, K)$$

$$= \mathsf{E}^* [\max\{S(T) - K, 0\} \mid \mathfrak{F}_t, S(t) = x, v(t) = y_2, v'(t) = y_3]. \tag{2.1}$$

In what follows, we use the symbols x, y_2 , y_3 as formal variables during calculations. In the formulation of results, we substitute the values from

Equation 2.1: x = S(t), $y_2 = v(t)$, $y_3 = v'(t)$.

On the one hand, by the Fundamental Theorem of Financial Engineering, the time t no-arbitrage price of a European call option with strike price K and maturity T is equal to V(t, S(t), v(t), v'(t), T, K).

Remark 3. If the spot risk-free interest rate is a non-zero, but deterministic function of time, say r(t), then the function (2.1) is replaced with another one:

$$\tilde{V}(t, \tilde{s}, y_2, y_3, T, K) = \mathsf{E}^* [\exp(-\int_t^T r(u) \, du) \\
\times \max \{ \tilde{S}(T) - K, 0 \} \mid \mathfrak{F}_t, \tilde{S}(t) = \tilde{s}, v(t) = y_2, v'(t) = y_3],$$

where

$$d\tilde{S}(t) = dS(t) + r(t) dt.$$

In this case, we just change a variable

$$V(t, \tilde{s}, y_2, y_3, T, K) = \exp\left(\int_t^T r(u) \, du\right) \tilde{V}(t, \tilde{s}, y_2, y_3, T, K).$$

On the other hand, by (Pagliarani and Pascucci, 2017, Theorem 2.6, Remark 2.9), the function (2.1) satisfies the backward Kolmogorov equation, which has the form

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathcal{A}}_t(s, y_2, y_3)\right) v(t, s, y_2, y_3, T, K) = 0.$$
 (2.2)

By Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Equation (2.8)), the linear differential operator $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_t$ has the form

$$\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{t}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \overline{a}_{ij}(t,\mathbf{z}) \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z_{i} \partial z_{j}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \overline{a}_{i}(t,\mathbf{z}) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}}, \tag{2.3}$$

where $\mathbf{z} = (s, y_2, y_3)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, and where the entries $\overline{a}_{ij}(t, \mathbf{z})$ of a symmetric matrix and the components $\overline{a}_i(t, \mathbf{z})$ of a vector are given by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, p. 671):

$$\begin{split} \overline{a}_1(t,\mathbf{z}) &= 0, & \overline{a}_i(t,\mathbf{z}) &= \mu_i(t,\mathbf{z}), \\ \overline{a}_{11}(t,\mathbf{z}) &= \eta_1^2(t,\mathbf{z})s^2, & \overline{a}_{1i}(t,\mathbf{z}) &= \rho_{1i}\eta_1(t,\mathbf{z})\eta_i(t,\mathbf{z})s, \\ \overline{a}_{ij}(t,\mathbf{z}) &= \rho_{ij}\eta_i(t,\mathbf{z})\eta_j(t,\mathbf{z}), \end{split}$$

for any i, j = 2, 3. Equation (1.9) gives the following nonzero coefficients:

$$\begin{split} \overline{a}_2(y_2, y_3) &= \kappa_1(y_3 - y_2), & \overline{a}_3(y_3) &= \kappa_2(\theta - y_3), \\ \overline{a}_{11}(s, y_2) &= s^2 y_2, & \overline{a}_{12}(s, y_2) &= \rho_{12} \xi_1 s y_2^{\alpha_1 + 1/2}, \\ \overline{a}_{13}(s, y_2, y_3) &= \rho_{13} \xi_2 s y_2^{1/2} y_3^{\alpha_2}, & \overline{a}_{22}(y_2) &= \xi_1^2 y_2^{2\alpha_1}, \\ \overline{a}_{23}(y_2, y_3) &= \rho_{23} \xi_1 \xi_2 y_2^{\alpha_1} y_3^{\alpha_2}, & \overline{a}_{33}(y_3) &= \xi_2^2 y_3^{2\alpha_2}. \end{split}$$

The operator $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_t(\mathbf{z})$ in the backward Kolmogorov equation (2.2) takes the form

$$\begin{split} \overline{\mathcal{A}}_{t}(\mathbf{z}) &= \frac{1}{2} s^{2} y_{2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial s^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \xi_{1}^{2} y_{2}^{2\alpha_{1}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y_{2}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \xi_{2}^{2} y_{3}^{2\alpha_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y_{3}^{2}} \\ &+ \rho_{12} \xi_{1} s y_{2}^{\alpha_{1}+1/2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial s \partial y_{2}} + \rho_{13} \xi_{2} s y_{2}^{1/2} y_{3}^{\alpha_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial s \partial y_{3}} \\ &+ \rho_{23} \xi_{1} \xi_{2} y_{2}^{\alpha_{1}} y_{3}^{\alpha_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y_{2} \partial y_{3}} + \kappa_{1} (y_{3} - y_{2}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{2}} + \kappa_{2} (\theta - y_{3}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{3}}. \end{split}$$

Now we check that the Gatheral model satisfies the assumptions given in Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017). We start from their Assumption 2.4, part (i): the coefficients \overline{a}_{ij} and \overline{a}_i belong to a parabolic Hölder space $C_P^{N,1}([0,T_0)\times D)$, where D is a domain in \mathbb{R}^3 , and $N\geq 2$ is an integer, see Chou and Zhu (2001). We do that for the coefficient $\overline{a}_{11}(s,y)=s^2y$, a proof for the remaining cases is similar.

First, we need to prove that there is a domain $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^3$ such that for any $s, t \in (0, T_0)$ and $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in D$ we have

$$[\overline{a}_{11}] = \sup_{(s,\mathbf{x}),(t,\mathbf{y})\in[0,T_0)\times D} \frac{|\overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})-\overline{a}_{11}(t,\mathbf{y})|}{(|s-t|+||\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}||^2)^{1/2}} < \infty.$$

Define

$$D = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3 : r < ||\mathbf{x}|| < R \}.$$

From the point of view of financial applications, this means that the asset price and both volatilities are bounded and separated from 0 on a time interval

 $[0, T_0)$. Estimate the middle term:

$$\frac{|\overline{a}_{11}(s, \mathbf{x}) - \overline{a}_{11}(t, \mathbf{y})|}{(|s - t| + ||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}||^2)^{1/2}} = \frac{|s^2 x_2 - t^2 y_2|}{(|s - t| + |x_2 - y_2|^2)^{1/2}} \\
\leq \frac{T_0^2}{|x_2 - y_2|} |x_2 - y_2| = T_0^2 < \infty.$$

Second, we need to prove that

$$\left[\frac{\partial \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})}{\partial s}\right] < \infty.$$

Indeed, we have $\frac{\partial \overline{a}_{11}(s, \mathbf{x})}{\partial s} = 2sy_2$, and the above middle term takes the form

$$\frac{|2sx_2 - 2ty_2|}{(|s - t| + |x_2 - y_2|^2)^{1/2}} \le \frac{2T_0|x_2 - y_2|}{|x_2 - y_2|} < \infty.$$

Last, we have to prove that

$$\sum_{i+2,i<2} \max_{(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D} \left| \frac{\partial^{i+j} \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})}{\partial x^i \partial s^j} \right| + \sum_{i+2,i=2} \left[\frac{\partial^{i+j} \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})}{\partial x^i \partial s^j} \right] < \infty.$$

Estimating each remaining term separately, we have

$$\max_{\substack{(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D\\(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D}} \left| \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x}) \right| \leq T_0^2 R < \infty,
\max_{\substack{(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D\\(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D}} \left| \frac{\partial \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})}{\partial x_2} \right| \leq 2T_0^2 < \infty,
\max_{\substack{(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D\\(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D}} \left| \frac{\partial^2 \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})}{\partial x_2^2} \right| = 0 < \infty,
\max_{\substack{(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D\\(s,\mathbf{x})\in[0,T_0)\times D}} \left| \frac{\partial \overline{a}_{11}(s,\mathbf{x})}{\partial s} \right| \leq 2RT_0 < \infty.$$

Part (ii) of Assumption 2.4 is as follows: the operator $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_t(\mathbf{z})$ is strongly elliptic in the sense that there exist M > 0 and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ such that for all $t \in [0, T_0)$, $\mathbf{z} \in D$, and $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^3$ we have

$$\varepsilon M \|\zeta\|^2 \le \sum_{i,j=1}^3 \overline{a}_{ij}(t,\mathbf{z})\zeta_i\zeta_j \le M \|\zeta\|^2.$$

In other words: the norm of the positive-definite matrix $\overline{a}_{ij}(t, \mathbf{z})$ is separated from 0 and finite. This is checked by direct calculations.

By (Pagliarani and Pascucci, 2017, Lemma 2.3), Assumption 2.1 is satisfied if Assumption 2.4 is satisfied *and* the coefficients of the system (1.8) are continuous and bounded on $[0, T_0] \times D$. The latter is obvious.

Finally, we need to check Assumption 2.5: the solution to the system (1.8) is a *Feller process* on D, that is, for any $T \in (0, T_0)$, and for any continuous function $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ with compact support, the function $(0, T) \times D \to \mathbb{R}$, $(t, \mathbf{z}) \mapsto (\mathbf{T}_{t,T}\varphi)(\mathbf{z})$ is continuous, where

$$(\mathbf{T}_{t,T}\varphi)(\mathbf{z}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varphi(\zeta)\overline{p}(t,\mathbf{z};T,\mathrm{d}\zeta),$$

and $\overline{p}(t, \mathbf{z}; T, d\zeta)$ is the transition probability function for the solution to the system (1.8).

We use (Ethier and Kurtz, 1986, Chapter 8, Theorem 1.4). This result says that under some conditions, the solution to a system of stochastic differential equations is a Feller process. We check the above conditions one by one.

The condition $d \ge 2$ is trivially satisfied. By construction, our set D is bounded, connected, and open. To check the next condition, we need a notation.

Let \mathbf{x}_0 be a point on the boundary ∂D of the set D. According to Ethier and Kurtz (1986), a map $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, $\mathbf{x} \mapsto \mathbf{y} = U(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_0)$, is called a *local Cartesian coordinate system with origin at* \mathbf{x}_0 if U is an orthogonal matrix and the outer normal to ∂D at \mathbf{x}_0 is mapped to the nonnegative y_d axis. For a positive integer m and a real number $\mu \in [0,1]$, the surface ∂D is of class $C^{m,\mu}$ if there exists $\rho > 0$ such that for every $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \partial D$ the intersection of ∂D with an open ball $B(\mathbf{x}_0,\rho)$ of radius ρ centred at \mathbf{x}_0 is a connected surface of the form $y_d = v(y_1,\ldots,y_{d-1})$, the function v is m times continuously differentiable on the closure \overline{P} of the projection P of the set $\partial D \cap B(\mathbf{x}_0,\rho)$ onto the hyperplane $y_d = 0$, and their partial derivatives of orders $0,1,\ldots,m$ satisfy a Hölder condition with exponent μ with some fixed u_0 :

$$\sup_{0< u\leq u_0} \{\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in \overline{P}} v(\mathbf{y}) - \inf_{\mathbf{y}\in \overline{P}} v(\mathbf{y})\} < \infty.$$

In the latter case we write $v \in C^{m,\mu}(\overline{P})$.

One may check by direct calculations that ∂D is of class $C^{2,1}$ and the coefficients of the system (1.8) belong to $C^{0,1}$. The last remaining condition of (Pagliarani and Pascucci, 2017, Lemma 2.3) is as follows:

$$\inf_{\mathbf{x}\in D}\inf_{\|\boldsymbol{\theta}\|=1}\sum_{i,j=1}^{d}a_{ij}(\mathbf{x})\theta_{i}\theta_{j}>0,$$

and is trivial to check. Thus, the solution to the system (1.8) is indeed a Feller process.

The next step is switching to logarithmic variables. The differential operator $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_t(\mathbf{z})$ given by Equation (2.3) becomes the operator

$$\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^3 a_{ij}(t,\mathbf{z}) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} + \sum_{i=1}^3 a_i(t,\mathbf{z}) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i},$$

where this time $\mathbf{z} = (x, \mathbf{y}^{\mathsf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}} = (x, y_2, y_3)^{\mathsf{T}} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, the functions $a_{ij}(t, \mathbf{z})$ and $a_i(t, \mathbf{z})$ are given by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, p. 680):

$$a_{11}(t, x, \mathbf{y}) = e^{-2x} \overline{a}_{11}(t, e^x, \mathbf{y}), \quad a_1(t, x, \mathbf{y}) = -\frac{1}{2} e^{-2x} \overline{a}_{11}(t, e^x, \mathbf{y}),$$

$$a_{1i}(t, x, \mathbf{y}) = e^{-x} \overline{a}_{1i}(t, e^x, \mathbf{y}), \quad a_{ij}(t, x, \mathbf{y}) = \overline{a}_{ij}(t, e^x, \mathbf{y}),$$

$$a_i(t, x, \mathbf{y}) = \overline{a}_i(t, e^x, \mathbf{y}),$$

for any i, j = 2, 3. This gives

$$a_{1}(y_{2}) = -\frac{1}{2}y_{2}, \qquad a_{2}(y_{2}, y_{3}) = \kappa_{1}(y_{3} - y_{2}),$$

$$a_{3}(y_{3}) = \kappa_{2}(\theta - y_{3}), \qquad a_{11}(y_{2}) = y_{2},$$

$$a_{12}(y_{2}) = \rho_{12}\xi_{1}y_{2}^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}, \quad a_{13}(y_{2}, y_{3}) = \rho_{13}\xi_{2}y_{2}^{1/2}y_{3}^{\alpha_{2}},$$

$$a_{22}(y_{2}) = \xi_{1}^{2}y_{2}^{2\alpha_{1}}, \qquad a_{23}(y_{2}, y_{3}) = \rho_{23}\xi_{1}\xi_{2}y_{2}^{\alpha_{1}}y_{3}^{\alpha_{2}},$$

$$a_{33}(y_{3}) = \xi_{2}^{2}y_{3}^{2\alpha_{2}},$$

$$(2.4)$$

and the operator $\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z})$ becomes

$$\mathcal{A}_{t}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{2} y_{2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \xi_{1}^{2} y_{2}^{2\alpha_{1}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y_{2}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \xi_{2}^{2} y_{3}^{2\alpha_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y_{3}^{2}}$$

$$+ \rho_{12} \xi_{1} y_{2}^{\alpha_{1}+1/2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x \partial y_{2}} + \rho_{13} \xi_{2} y_{2}^{1/2} y_{3}^{\alpha_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x \partial y_{3}}$$

$$+ \rho_{23} \xi_{1} \xi_{2} y_{2}^{\alpha_{1}} y_{3}^{\alpha_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y_{2} \partial y_{3}} - \frac{1}{2} y_{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \kappa_{1} (y_{3} - y_{2}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{2}}$$

$$+ \kappa_{2} (\theta - y_{3}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{3}}.$$

$$(2.5)$$

2.3 The Formal Expansion of the Operator $\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z})$

Fix a point $\overline{\mathbf{z}} = (\overline{z}_1, \overline{z}_2, \overline{z}_3)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^3$. For example, we may choose:

$$\overline{z}_1 = \ln S(t), \qquad \overline{z}_2 = v(t), \qquad \overline{z}_3 = v'(t),$$

where t is current time, close to maturity T. Expand the operator $\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z})$ by replacing the coefficients $a_{ij}(t, x, y_2, y_3)$ and $a_i(t, x, y_2, y_3)$ with their Taylor series around $\overline{\mathbf{z}}$. Formally,

$$\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z}) \sim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_{t,n}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(\mathbf{z}).$$

We call this expansion *formal* because we do not discuss the questions of its convergence. In this Section, we explicitly calculate the first four terms of the above formal expansion.

2.3.1 The Zeroth Term

By (Pagliarani and Pascucci, 2017, Equation (3.4)), the zeroth term of the expansion is just the value of the operator $\mathcal{A}_t(\mathbf{z})$ when $\mathbf{z} = \overline{\mathbf{z}}$. Using Equa-

tion (2.5), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{t,0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(x,y_2,y_3) &= \frac{1}{2}v(t)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1}(t)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2^2} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_2^2v'^{2\alpha_2}(t)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_3^2} \\ &+ \rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x\partial y_2} + \rho_{13}\xi_2v^{1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x\partial y_3} \\ &+ \rho_{23}\xi_1\xi_2v^{\alpha_1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2\partial y_3} - \frac{1}{2}v(t)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\frac{\partial}{\partial y_2} \\ &+ \kappa_2(\theta-v'(t))\frac{\partial}{\partial y_3}. \end{split}$$

2.3.2 The First Term

According to (Pagliarani and Pascucci, 2017, Equation (3.4)), the first term can be obtained by the following replacements in Equation (2.5):

$$a_{ij}(t,\mathbf{z}) \to \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} \frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial z_{\beta}}(t,\overline{\mathbf{z}})(z_{\beta} - \overline{z}_{\beta}), \qquad a_{i}(t,\mathbf{z}) \to \sum_{\beta=1}^{3} \frac{\partial a_{i}}{\partial z_{\beta}}(t,\overline{\mathbf{z}})(z_{\beta} - \overline{z}_{\beta}).$$

Calculating partial derivatives, we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_{t,1}^{(\overline{z})}(x, y_2, y_3) = \frac{1}{2}(y_2 - v(t))\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \xi_1^2 \alpha_1 v^{2\alpha_1 - 1}(t)(y_2 - v(t))\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2^2} \\
+ \xi_2^2 \alpha_2 v'^{2\alpha_2 - 1}(t)(y_3 - v'(t))\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_3^2} \\
+ \rho_{12} \xi_1(\alpha_1 + 1/2)v^{\alpha_1 - 1/2}(t)(y_2 - v(t))\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y_2} \\
+ \rho_{13} \xi_2 [(1/2)v^{-1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(y_2 - v(t)) \\
+ \alpha_2 v^{1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2 - 1}(y_3 - v'(t))]\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y_3} \\
+ \rho_{23} \xi_1 \xi_2 [\alpha_1 v^{\alpha_1 - 1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(y_2 - v(t)) \\
+ \alpha_2 v^{\alpha_1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2 - 1}(t)(y_3 - v'(t))]\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2 \partial y_3}$$
(2.6)

$$+\frac{1}{2}(v(t)-y_2)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}+\kappa_1[-y_2+v(t)+y_3-v'(t)]\frac{\partial}{\partial y_2}+\kappa_2(v'(t)-y_3)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_3}.$$

2.3.3 The Second Term

This time, the replacements have the form

$$a_{ij}(t,\mathbf{z}) \to \sum_{\|\boldsymbol{\beta}\|=n} \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{\beta}!} \frac{\partial^{n} a_{ij}}{\partial \mathbf{z}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}}} (t,\overline{\mathbf{z}}) (\mathbf{z}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}} - \overline{\mathbf{z}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}),$$

$$a_{i}(t,\mathbf{z}) \to \sum_{\|\boldsymbol{\beta}\|=n} \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{\beta}!} \frac{\partial^{n} a_{i}}{\partial \mathbf{z}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}}} (t,\overline{\mathbf{z}}) (\mathbf{z}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}} - \overline{\mathbf{z}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}),$$
(2.7)

where $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3)^{\top}$ is a multi-index with nonnegative integer coordinates, $\|\boldsymbol{\beta}\| = \beta_1 + \beta_2 + \beta_3$, n = 2, and

$$\partial \mathbf{z}^{\beta} = \prod_{k=1}^{3} \partial z_{k}^{\beta_{k}}, \qquad \mathbf{z}_{\beta} - \overline{\mathbf{z}}_{\beta} = \prod_{k=1}^{3} (z_{k} - \overline{z}_{k})^{\beta_{k}}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\beta}! = \prod_{k=1}^{3} \beta_{k}!.$$

Again, by calculating partial derivatives, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{t,2}^{(\overline{z})}(x,y_2,y_3) &= \xi_1^2 \alpha_1 (\alpha_1 - 1/2) v^{2(\alpha_1 - 1)}(t) (y_2 - v(t))^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2^2} \\ &+ \xi_2^2 \alpha_2 (\alpha_2 - 1/2) v'^{2(\alpha_2 - 1)}(t) (y_3 - v'(t))^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_3^2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \rho_{12} \xi_1 (\alpha_1^2 - 1/4) v^{\alpha_1 - 3/2}(t) (y_2 - v(t))^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y_2} \\ &+ \rho_{13} \xi_2 [(-1/8) v^{-3/2}(t) v'^{\alpha_2}(t) (y_2 - v(t))^2 \\ &+ (1/2) \alpha_2 v^{-1/2}(t) v'^{\alpha_2 - 1}(t) (y_2 - v(t)) (y_3 - v'(t)) \\ &+ (1/2) \alpha_2 (\alpha_2 - 1) v^{1/2}(t) v'^{\alpha_2 - 2}(t) (y_3 - v'(t))^2] \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y_3} \\ &+ \rho_{23} \xi_1 \xi_2 [(1/2) \alpha_1 (\alpha_1 - 1) v^{\alpha_1 - 2}(t) v'^{\alpha_2}(t) (y_2 - v(t))^2 \\ &+ \alpha_1 \alpha_2 v^{\alpha_1 - 1}(t) v'^{\alpha_2 - 1}(t) (y_2 - v(t)) (y_3 - v'(t)) \\ &+ (1/2) \alpha_2 (\alpha_2 - 1) v^{\alpha_1}(t) v'^{\alpha_2 - 2}(t) (y_3 - v'(t))^2] \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2 \partial y_3}. \end{split}$$

2.3.4 The Third Term

The replacements have the form (2.7), but with n = 3. The differential operator takes the form

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{t,3}^{(\overline{z})}(x,y_2,y_3) &= \frac{1}{3}\xi_1^2\alpha_1(2\alpha_1-1)(\alpha_1-1)v^{2\alpha_1-3}(t)(y_2-v(t))^3\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2^2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{3}\xi_2^2\alpha_2(2\alpha_2-1)(\alpha_2-1)v'^{(2\alpha_2-3)}(t)(y_3-v'(t))^3\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_3^2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{6}\rho_{12}\xi_1(\alpha_1^2-1/4)(\alpha_1-3/2)v^{\alpha_1-5/2}(t)(y_2-v(t))^3\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x\partial y_2} \\ &+ \rho_{13}\xi_2\big[(1/16)v^{-5/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(y_2-v(t))^3 \\ &- (1/8)\alpha_2v^{-3/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-1}(t)(y_2-v(t))^2(y_3-v'(t)) \\ &+ (1/4)\alpha_2(\alpha_2-1)v^{-1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-2}(t)(y_2-v(t))(y_3-v'(t))^2 \\ &+ (1/6)\alpha_2(\alpha_2-1)(\alpha_2-2)v^{1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-3}(t)(y_3-v'(t))^3\big]\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x\partial y_3} \\ &+ \rho_{23}\xi_1\xi_2\big[(1/6)\alpha_1(\alpha_1-1)(\alpha_1-2)v^{\alpha_1-3}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(y_2-v(t))^3 \\ &+ (1/2)\alpha_1\alpha_2(\alpha_1-1)v^{\alpha_1-2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-1}(t)(y_2-v(t))^2(y_3-v'(t)) \\ &+ (1/2)\alpha_1\alpha_2(\alpha_2-1)v^{\alpha_1-1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-2}(t)(y_2-v(t))(y_3-v'(t))^2 \\ &+ (1/6)\alpha_1(\alpha_2-1)(\alpha_2-2)v^{\alpha_1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-3}(t)(y_3-v'(t))^3\big]\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_2\partial y_3}. \end{split}$$

We explain why we need to write down the above operators. It is proved in Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017) that, in logarithmic variables, the pricing function

$$u(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) = V(t, e^x, y_2, y_3, T, e^k),$$

where the function V is given by (2.1), can be expanded into a series

$$u(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) \sim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k).$$
 (2.8)

The zeroth term is a solution to the boundary value problem

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mathcal{A}_{t,0}^{(\overline{z})}(x, y_2, y_3)\right) u_0^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) = 0,
u_0^{(\overline{z})}(T, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) = \max\{0, e^x - e^k\},$$
(2.9)

where the variables t, x, y_2 , and y_3 in the partial differential equation run over the region $[0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3$, and the variables x, y_2 , and y_3 in the boundary condition run over \mathbb{R}^3 . The subsequent terms are solutions to the boundary value problems

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mathcal{A}_{t,0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}\right) u_{n}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k) &= -\sum_{h=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}_{t,h}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})} u_{n-h}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k), \\ u_{n}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(T,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k) &= 0, \end{split}$$

where the variables run over the same regions.

2.4 The Expansion

2.4.1 The Zeroth Term

The solution to the boundary value problem (2.9) has the form

$$u_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) = u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})},\tau,x,k),$$

where the function u^{BS} is given by Equation (1.6), and the parameter $\sigma_0^{(\bar{z})}$ is given by

$$\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})} = \left(\frac{1}{\tau} \int_t^T a_{11}(u, \overline{\mathbf{z}}) \, du\right)^{1/2}.$$

Using equation (2.4), we obtain

$$\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})} = \sqrt{v_0}.\tag{2.10}$$

To obtain the time t approximation of the option's price, we put $x = \ln S(t)$.

Theorem 8. The approximation of order 0 of the European call option's price has the form

$$u(t, S(t), T, k) \approx u^{BS}(\sqrt{v(t)}, \tau, \ln S(t), k). \tag{2.11}$$

2.4.2 Auxiliary calculations

First, we need to calculate the vector $\mathbf{m}^{(\bar{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s)$ whose components are given by

$$m_i^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) = \int_t^s a_i(u,\overline{\mathbf{z}}) du,$$

see Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, p. 713). Equation (2.4) gives

$$m_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) = -\frac{1}{2}v(t)(s-t), \qquad m_2^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) = \kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))(s-t), m_3^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) = \kappa_2(\theta-v'(t))(s-t).$$

The next task is to calculate the entries of the matrix

$$C_{ij}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) = \int_{t}^{s} a_{ij}(u,\overline{\mathbf{z}}) du.$$

This gives

$$\begin{split} C_{12}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) &= \rho_{12}\xi_1 v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)(s-t), & C_{11}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) &= v(t)(s-t), \\ C_{13}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) &= \rho_{13}\xi_2 v^{1/2}(t) v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(s-t), & C_{22}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) &= \xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1}(t)(s-t), \\ C_{23}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) &= \rho_{23}\xi_1\xi_2 v^{\alpha_1}(t) v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(s-t), & C_{33}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) &= \xi_2^2 v'^{2\alpha_2}(t)(s-t). \end{split}$$

Introduce the following notation for the coefficients of the linear differential operator $\mathcal{A}_{t,n}^{(\overline{z})}(\mathbf{z})$:

$$\mathcal{A}_{t,n}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(\mathbf{z}) = \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq 3} a_{ij,n}(t,\mathbf{z}) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} + \sum_{i=1}^3 a_{i,n}(t,\mathbf{z}) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}.$$

In particular, when n = 1, Equation (2.6) gives

$$a_{11,1}(t, y_2) = \frac{1}{2}(y_2 - v(t)),$$

$$a_{12,1}(t, y_2) = \rho_{12}\xi_1(\alpha_1 + 1/2)v^{\alpha_1 - 1/2}(t)(y_2 - v(t)),$$

$$\begin{split} a_{13,1}(t,y_2,y_3) &= \rho_{13}\xi_2\big[(1/2)v^{-1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(y_2-v(t))\\ &+ \alpha_2v^{1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-1}(y_3-v'(t))\big],\\ a_{22,1}(t,y_2) &= \xi_1^2\alpha_1v^{2\alpha_1-1}(t)(y_2-v(t)),\\ a_{23,1}(t,y_2,y_3) &= \rho_{23}\xi_1\xi_2\big[\alpha_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2}(t)(y_2-v(t))\\ &+ \alpha_2v^{\alpha_1}(t)v'^{\alpha_2-1}(t)(y_3-v'(t))\big],\\ a_{33,1}(t,y_3) &= \xi_2^2\alpha_2v'^{2\alpha_2-1}(t)(y_3-v'(t)),\\ a_{1,1}(t,y_2) &= \frac{1}{2}(v(t)-y_2),\\ a_{2,1}(t,y_2,y_3) &= \kappa_1\big[-y_2+v(t)+y_3-v'(t)\big],\\ a_{3,1}(t,y_3) &= \kappa_2(v'(t)-y_3). \end{split}$$

Following Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017), define the symbols $\mathcal{M}_i(t, s, z_i)$, $1 \le i \le 3$, by the equation:

$$\mathcal{M}_i(t,s,z_i) = z_i + m_i(t,s) + \sum_{j=1}^3 C_{ij}(t,s) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}.$$

Using the values of $m_i(t, s)$ and $C_{ij}(t, s)$ calculated above, we obtain the following equalities:

$$\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,s,x) = x - \frac{1}{2}v(t)(s-t) + v(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{2}} + \rho_{13}\xi_{2}v^{1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_{2}}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{3}},$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,s,y_{2}) = y_{2} + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(s-t) + \rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{2}} + \rho_{23}\xi_{1}\xi_{2}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t)v'^{\alpha_{2}}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{3}},$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,s,y_{3}) = y_{3} + \kappa_{2}(\theta - v'(t))(s-t) + \rho_{13}\xi_{2}v^{1/2}(t)v'^{\alpha_{2}}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \rho_{23}\xi_{1}\xi_{2}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t)v'^{\alpha_{2}}(t)(s-t)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{3}}.$$

Now, we calculate the operators

$$\mathcal{G}_{n}^{(\overline{z})}(t, s, x, y_{2}, y_{3}) = \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq 3} a_{ij,n}(t, \mathcal{M}_{1}(t, s, x), \mathcal{M}_{2}(t, s, y_{2}), \mathcal{M}_{3}(t, s, y_{3})) \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z_{i} \partial z_{j}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} a_{i,n}(t, \mathcal{M}_{1}(t, s, x), \mathcal{M}_{2}(t, s, y_{2}), \mathcal{M}_{3}(t, s, y_{3})) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}}$$
(2.13)

for n = 1, 2, 3. They have the form

$$\mathcal{G}_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s,x,y_2,y_3) = \sum_{\gamma} g_{\gamma,n}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s,x,y_2,y_3) \frac{\partial^{\|\gamma\|}}{\partial \mathbf{z}^{\gamma}},$$

where the sum is taken over a finite set of multi-indices.

We calculate in details the coefficient of the differential operator $\frac{\partial}{\partial x}$, which is $g_{(1,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\bar{z})}(t,s,y_2)$. By Equation (2.13), the above coefficient is that part of the expression $a_{1,1}(t,\mathcal{M}_1(t,s,x),\mathcal{M}_2(t,s,y_2),\mathcal{M}_3(t,s,y_3))$ which does not contain any partial derivatives. We have

$$a_{1,1}(t, \mathcal{M}_2(t, s, y_2)) = \frac{1}{2}(v(t) - \mathcal{M}_2(t, s, y_2)).$$

Substituting the value of $\mathcal{M}_2(t, s, y_2)$ from Equation (2.12) and ignoring the terms containing partial derivatives, we obtain

$$g_{(1,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s,y_2) = \frac{1}{2} [v(t) - y_2 - \kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))(s-t)]. \tag{2.14}$$

Similarly, the coefficient of $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}$ is

$$g_{(2,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s,y_2) = \frac{1}{2} [y_2 - v(t) - \rho_{12} \xi_1 v^{\alpha_1 + 1/2}(s-t) + \kappa_1 (v'(t) - v(t))(s-t)]. \tag{2.15}$$

The coefficient of $\frac{\partial^3}{\partial x^3}$ is

$$g_{(3,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\bar{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s) = \frac{1}{2}\rho_{12}\xi_1 v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)(s-t). \tag{2.16}$$

As we will see later, we do not need to know the values of the remaining coefficients.

2.4.3 The First Term

Our next task is to calculate the differential operator $\mathcal{L}_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3)$ with n=1. It is given by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Equation (D.2)). In the case of n=1 this equation takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_{2},y_{3}) = \int_{t}^{T} \mathcal{G}_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{1},x,y_{2},y_{3}) ds_{1}.$$

The above differential operator is used to calculate the nth term in the approximation (2.8). This approximation is given by Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Equation (D.1)):

$$u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) = \mathcal{L}_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3) u_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k),$$

The expression $u_0^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_1, y_2, T, k)$ is given by the right hand side of Equation (2.11) and does not depend on y_2 and y_3 . The approximation of the *n*th term takes the form

$$u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) = \hat{\mathcal{L}}_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3) u_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,T,k),$$

where the differential operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3)$ is obtained from the operator $\mathcal{L}_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3)$ by deleting all terms containing partial derivatives with respect to the variables y_2 and y_3 . To calculate this operator when n=1, we have to integrate the coefficient of the differential operator $\frac{\partial^k}{\partial x^k}$, $1 \le k \le 3$, from t to T with respect to s. We calculate the integral

$$\int_{t}^{T} (t - s) ds = \frac{1}{2}t^{2} + \tau t - \frac{1}{2}T^{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\tau^{2}.$$
 (2.17)

The operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3)$ takes the form

$$\begin{split} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{1}^{(\bar{z})}(t,T,y_{2}) &= \frac{\tau}{4} [2(v(t)-y_{2}) - \kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\tau] \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \\ &+ \frac{\tau}{4} [2(v(t)-y_{2}) - \rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\tau + \kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\tau] \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} \\ &+ \frac{\tau}{4} [\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\tau] \frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial x^{3}}. \end{split}$$

To calculate the approximation $u_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)$, we have to apply the above differential operator to $u_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, T, k)$ and put $y_2 = v(t)$. We obtain

$$\begin{split} u_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,k) &= \frac{\tau^2}{4} \left[(-\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right. \\ &\quad + (-\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t) + \kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \\ &\quad + \rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t) \frac{\partial^3}{\partial x^3} \left[u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,x,k) \right]. \end{split}$$

To formulate the approximation of order 1 of a European call option's price, we introduce the following notation

$$u^{\mathrm{BS},n}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k) = \frac{\partial^n}{\partial x^n} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,\ln S(t),k).$$

Theorem 9. The approximation of order 1 of the European call option's price has the form

$$\begin{split} &u(t,S(t),T,k)\approx u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,\ln S(t),k)\\ &+\frac{\tau^2}{4}(-\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t)))u^{\mathrm{BS},1}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k)\\ &+\frac{\tau^2}{4}(-\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)+\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t)))u^{\mathrm{BS},2}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k)\\ &+\frac{\tau^2}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)u^{\mathrm{BS},3}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k). \end{split}$$

2.4.4 The Second Term

Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Equation (D.2)) gives

$$\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(\overline{z})}(t,T,x,y_{2},y_{3}) = \int_{t}^{T} \int_{s_{1}}^{T} \mathcal{G}_{1}^{(\overline{z})}(t,s_{1},x,y_{2},y_{3}) \mathcal{G}_{1}^{(\overline{z})}(t,s_{2},x,y_{2},y_{3}) ds_{2} ds_{1}.$$
(2.18)

We write down the coefficients of the partial derivatives $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}$, ..., $\frac{\partial^6}{\partial x^6}$ of the linear differential operator under the integral sign.

The coefficient of the partial derivative $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}$ is

$$g_{(2,0,0)^\top,2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,s_2,y_2) = g_{(1,0,0)^\top,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,y_2))g_{(1,0,0)^\top,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_2,y_2).$$

The coefficient of $\frac{\partial^3}{\partial x^3}$ is

$$\begin{split} g_{(3,0,0)^{\top},2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,s_2,y_2) &= g_{(1,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,y_2))g_{(2,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_2,y_2) \\ &+ g_{(2,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,y_2))g_{(1,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_2,y_2). \end{split}$$

The coefficient of $\frac{\partial^4}{\partial x^4}$ is

$$\begin{split} g_{(4,0,0)^{\top},2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{1},s_{2},y_{2}) &= g_{(1,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{1},y_{2}))g_{(3,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{2},y_{2}) \\ &+ g_{(2,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{1},y_{2}))g_{(2,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{2},y_{2}) \\ &+ g_{(3,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{1},y_{2}))g_{(1,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_{2},y_{2}). \end{split}$$

The coefficient of $\frac{\partial^5}{\partial x^5}$ is

$$\begin{split} g_{(5,0,0)^\top,2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,s_2,y_2) &= g_{(1,0,0)^\top,2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,y_2))g_{(3,0,0)^\top,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_2,y_2) \\ &+ g_{(3,0,0)^\top,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,y_2))g_{(2,0,0)^\top,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_2,y_2). \end{split}$$

Finally, the coefficient of $\frac{\partial^6}{\partial x^6}$ is

$$g_{(6,0,0)^{\top},2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,s_2,y_2) = g_{(3,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_1,y_2))g_{(3,0,0)^{\top},1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,s_2,y_2).$$

We substitute the values (2.14), (2.15), and (2.16) to the above equations and integrate the result according to Equation (2.18). The integral (2.17) is now replaced with the following integrals:

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{s_{1}}^{T} ds_{2} ds_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \tau^{2}, \qquad \int_{t}^{T} \int_{s_{1}}^{T} (s_{2} - t) ds_{2} ds_{1} = \frac{1}{3} \tau^{3},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{s_{1}}^{T} (s_{1} - t) ds_{2} ds_{1} = \frac{1}{6} \tau^{3}, \quad \int_{t}^{T} \int_{s_{1}}^{T} (s_{1} - t) (s_{2} - t) ds_{2} ds_{1} = \frac{1}{8} \tau^{4}.$$

The operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{2}^{(\bar{\mathbf{z}})}(t,T,x,y_2,y_3)$ takes the form

$$\begin{split} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{2}^{(\overline{z})}(t,T,x,y_{2},y_{3}) &= \left[\frac{\tau^{4}}{32}\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2} - \frac{\tau^{3}}{24}(v(t)-y_{2})\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\right. \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{2}}{8}(v(t)-y_{2})^{2}\right] \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{\tau^{4}}{32}(\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)-\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t)))\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\right. \\ &- \frac{\tau^{3}}{12}(v(t)-y_{2})\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t) - \frac{\tau^{2}}{4}(v(t)-y_{2})^{2}\right] \frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial x^{3}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{\tau^{4}}{32}(\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}+1}(t)-4\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\right. \\ &+ \kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}) + \frac{\tau^{3}}{8}(v(t)-y_{2}(t))\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t)) \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{2}}{8}(v(t)-y_{2}(t))^{2}\right] \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial x^{4}} \\ &+ \left[\frac{\tau^{4}}{16}(\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}+1}(t)-\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t)))\right. \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{3}}{4}(v(t)-y_{2}(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\right] \frac{\partial^{5}}{\partial x^{5}} \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{4}}{32}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}+1}(t)\frac{\partial^{6}}{\partial x^{6}}. \end{split}$$

Again, to calculate the approximation $u_2^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k)$, we have to apply the above differential operator to $u_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,T,k)$ and put $y_2=v(t)$. We obtain

$$\begin{split} u_{2}^{(\overline{z})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k) &= \frac{\tau^{4}}{32}\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}u^{\text{BS},2}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k) \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{4}}{32}(\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)-\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t)))\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t)) \\ &\times u^{\text{BS},3}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k) \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{4}}{32}(\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}+1}(t)-4\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t)) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2})u^{\mathrm{BS},4}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k) \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{4}}{16}(\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}+1}(t)-\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))) \\ &\times u^{\mathrm{BS},5}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k) \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{4}}{32}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}+1}(t)u^{\mathrm{BS},5}(\sqrt{v(t)},\tau,S(t),k). \end{split}$$

The subsequent terms can be calculated similarly, but we do not need them for calculations of implied volatility.

Chapter 3

The Asymptotic Expansion of Implied Volatility

This Chapter is based on Papers A and B and adds more details of calculations.

Asymptotics of implied volatility in the Gatheral double stochastic volatility model

M. Albuhayri, A. Malyarenko, S. Silvestrov, Y. Ni, C. Engström, F. Tewolde, J. Zhang

Applied Modeling Techniques and Data Analysis 2: Financial, Demographic, Stochastic and Statistical Models and Methods, vol. 8 of Big data, artificial intelligence, and data analysis set, Y. Dimotikalis, A. Karagrigoriu, C. Parpoula, C. H. Skiadas (eds.), Wiley, 2021, Chapter 2, pp. 27–38.

An improved asymptotics of implied volatility in the Gatheral model M. Albuhayri, C. Engström, A. Malyarenko, Y. Ni, S. Silvestrov

Stochastic Processes, Statistical Methods, and Engineering Mathematics. SPAS 2019, A. Malyarenko, S. Silvestrov, Y. Ni, M. Rančić (eds.), Vol. 408 of Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics, Chapter 1, pp.3–16. Springer, 2022.

3.1 Introduction

Recall Equation (2.10): $\sigma_0^{(\bar{z})} = \sqrt{v_0}$. Let $u_n^{(\bar{z})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)$ be the terms in the expansion (2.8) of the European call option's price, $u(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)$. Following Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Equation (3.12)), introduce a family of approximation to the above price given by

$$\begin{split} u^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k,\delta,N) &= u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}) + \sum_{n=1}^N \delta^N u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) \\ &+ \delta^{N+1} \left(u(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) - \sum_{n=0}^N u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) \right), \end{split}$$

where $0 \le \delta \le 1$, and where N is a positive integer. Note that

$$u^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, 1, N) = u(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k).$$

The function $g^{(\bar{z})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, \delta, N)$ is defined by

$$g^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, \delta, N) = (u^{BS})^{-1}(u^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, \delta, N)).$$

We see that the implied volatility is given by

$$\sigma(\overline{\mathbf{z}}, t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) = g^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, 1, N).$$

(Pagliarani and Pascucci, 2017, Lemma 5.8) states the following. There exist two positive constants τ_0 and M, such that if $T - t \le \tau_0$ and $|x_0 - k| \le \lambda \sqrt{M\tau}$ for some positive λ , then the function g is well-defined.

The Taylor series expansion gives

$$\begin{split} \sigma(\overline{\mathbf{z}},t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) &= \sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})} \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^n g^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k,\delta,N)}{\partial \delta^n}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k,0,N). \end{split}$$

It remains to calculate the partial derivatives in the right hand side. Denote

$$\sigma_n^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^n g^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, \delta, N)}{\partial \delta^n}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k, 0, N).$$

Apply Faá di Bruno's formula, see Section A.2. We obtain

$$\sigma_{n}^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_{2}, y_{3}, T, k) = \frac{u_{n}^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_{2}, y_{3}, T, k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{z})})} - \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{h=2}^{n} B_{n,h}(1!\sigma_{1}^{(\overline{z})}, 2!\sigma_{2}^{(\overline{z})}, \dots, (n-h+1)!\sigma_{n-h+1}^{(\overline{z})}) \frac{\frac{\partial^{h}}{\partial \sigma^{h}} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{z})})}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{z})})}.$$

The function $\sigma_0^{(\overline{z})}$ is already calculated. We will calculate the functions $\sigma_n^{(\overline{z})}(t,x,y_1,y_2,T,k)$ for $1 \le n \le 3$. In this case, using Equation (A.1), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k) &= \frac{u_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}, \\ \sigma_{2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k) &= \frac{u_{2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} - \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})^{2} \frac{\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \sigma^{2}}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}, \\ \sigma_{3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k) &= \frac{u_{3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{2},y_{3},T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} - \sigma_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}\sigma_{2}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})} \frac{\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \sigma^{2}}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} \\ &- \frac{1}{6}(\sigma_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})^{3} \frac{\frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial \sigma^{3}}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}. \end{split}$$
(3.1)

We need to calculate the terms

$$\frac{u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}, \qquad 1 \le n \le 3$$

and

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial \sigma^{n}} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}, \qquad 2 \le n \le 3.$$

The second one is easier to calculate. Denote $c_{2,2} = c_{2,0} = c_{3,3} = 1$, $c_{3,1} = 3$ and

$$\zeta = \frac{x - k - \sigma^2 \tau / 2}{\sigma \sqrt{2\tau}}.$$

By Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Proposition C.4),

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial \sigma^{n}} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)} = \sum_{q=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} c_{n,n-2q} \sigma^{n-2q-1} \tau^{n-q-1} \sum_{p=0}^{n-q-1} {n-q-1 \choose p} \times \left(\frac{1}{\sigma \sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^{p+n-q-1} H_{p+n-q-1}(\zeta),$$
(3.2)

where $H_{p+n-q-1}(\zeta)$ are the "physicists" Hermite polynomials, see Appendix, Section A.3.

By Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Proposition D.3), we have

$$\frac{u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} = \sum_m \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_0 \sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^m \chi_{m,n}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, \mathbf{z}, T, k) H_m(\zeta), \tag{3.3}$$

but the exact form of the functions $\chi_{m,n}^{(\bar{z})}(t, \mathbf{z}, T, k)$ is omitted. The authors refer to Lorig et al. (2017a, Proposition 3.6) instead.

The above proposition tells the following. Consider the linear differential operator

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{n}(t,T) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \cdots \int_{t_{k-1}}^{T} \sum_{\mathbf{i} \in I_{n,k}} \mathcal{G}_{i_{1}}(t,t_{1}) \cdots \mathcal{G}_{i_{k-1}}(t,t_{k-1})
\times a_{11,i_{k}}(t_{k},\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{k},x),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{k},y_{2}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{k},y_{3})) dt_{k} \cdots dt_{1},$$
(3.4)

where $I_{n,k}$ is the set of all multi-indices $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \dots, i_k)$ with positive integer entries satisfying $i_1 + \dots + i_k = n$. Then we have

$$\frac{u_n^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} = \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_n(t, T) \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}{\tau \sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}.$$
 (3.5)

On the other hand, Lorig et al. (2017a, Lemma 3.4) gives

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^{m}}{\partial x^{m}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0})}{\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_{0})} = \left(-\frac{1}{\sigma_{0} \sqrt{2\tau}} \right)^{m} H_{m}(\zeta). \tag{3.6}$$

We obtain: to calculate $\chi_{mn}^{(\bar{z})}(t, \mathbf{z}, T, k)$, we divide the coefficient of the partial derivative $\frac{\partial^m}{\partial x^m}$ in the differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_n(t,T)$ by $\tau\sigma_0^{(\overline{z})}$. Following Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Definition 3.4), define

$$\overline{\sigma}_N(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \sigma^{(x, y_2, y_3)}(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)$$
(3.7)

and call this expression the Nth order approximation of the implied volatility. By Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017, Corollary 5.2), for all nonnegative integers q and m and for a fixed point (x_0, y_0, z_0) with $2q + m \le N$ the limit

$$\lim_{\substack{(T,k)\to(t,x_0)\\|x_0-k|\leq\lambda\sqrt{T-t}}}\frac{\partial^q}{\partial T^q}\frac{\partial^m}{\partial k^m}\overline{\sigma}_N(t,x_0,y_0,z_0,T,k)$$

exists and is finite. Moreover, it is also equal to another limit:

$$\lim_{\substack{(T,k)\to(t,x_0)\\|x_0-k|\leq\lambda\sqrt{T-t}}}\frac{\partial^q}{\partial T^q}\frac{\partial^m}{\partial k^m}\sigma(t,x_0,y_0,z_0,T,k).$$

When the last limit exists, its value can be used for an asymptotic expansion of implied volatility:

$$\sigma(t, x_0, y_0, z_0, T, k) = \sum_{\substack{2q+m \le N \\ |x_0 - k| \le \lambda \sqrt{T - t}}} \lim_{\substack{T, k \ge \lambda \sqrt{T - t} \\ q!m!}} \frac{\partial^q}{\partial T^q} \frac{\partial^m}{\partial k^m} \overline{\sigma}_N(t, x_0, y_0, z_0, T, k)$$

$$\times \frac{(T - t)^q (k - x_0)^m}{q!m!} + o(|T - t|^{N/2} + |k - x_0|^n)$$
(3.8)

as $(T, k) \to (t, x_0)$ with $|x_0 - k| \le \lambda \sqrt{T - t}$.

In the following Sections, we realise these calculations for $0 \le N \le 3$. To simplify formulas, we omit the arguments of σ .

3.2 The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 0

Theorem 10. The asymptotic expansion of implied volatility of order 0 in the Gatheral model has the form

$$\sigma = \sqrt{v_0} + o(1). \tag{3.9}$$

Proof. Using Equations (2.10) and (3.7), we obtain, that the 0th order approximation of the implied volatility takes the form

$$\overline{\sigma}_0(y_2) = \sqrt{y_2}$$
.

Equation (3.8) and the equality $y_0 = v_0$ give (3.9).

3.3 The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 1

Theorem 11. The asymptotic expansion of implied volatility of order 1 in the Gatheral model has the form

$$\sigma = \sqrt{v_0} + \frac{1}{4} \rho_{12} \xi_1 v^{\alpha_1 - 1}(t) (k - x_0) + o(\sqrt{T - t} + |k - x_0|).$$

Proof. Recall that the first equation in (3.1) reads

$$\sigma_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_1,y_2,T,k) = \frac{u_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}.$$

To calculate the right hand side, we use Equation (3.5) for n = 1. First, we calculate the linear differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_1(t,T)$. In this case the index k takes only one value k = 1, the set $I_{1,1}$ is a singleton containing the multi-index $\mathbf{i} = (1)$. Equation (3.4) takes the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_1(t,T) = \int_t^T a_{11,1}(t_1, \mathcal{M}_1(t, t_1, x), \mathcal{M}_2(t, t_1, y_2), \mathcal{M}_3(t, t_1, y_3)) dt_1.$$

Equation (2.6) gives

$$a_{11,1}(t_1, x, y_2, y_3) = \frac{1}{2}(y_2 - v(t)).$$

The linear differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_1(t,T)$ takes the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_1(t,T) = \int_t^T \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{M}_2(t,t_1,y_2) - v(t)) dt_1.$$

We use the second equation in (2.12) and obtain

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{1}(t,T) = \int_{t}^{T} \frac{1}{2} (y_{2} + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) + \rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{1} - t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x}
+ \xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}}(t)(t_{1} - t) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{2}} + \rho_{23}\xi_{1}\xi_{2}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t)v'^{\alpha_{2}}(t)(t_{1} - t) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{3}}
- v(t)) dt_{1}.$$

Note that the Black–Scholes price u^{BS} depends on x, but does not depend on y_2 and y_3 . By this reason, in what follows, we do not calculate the terms of the operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_n(t,T)$ that include the partial derivatives with respect to y_2 and y_3 , but replace them with dots \cdots . Using the integral (2.17), we obtain

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{1}(t,T) = \frac{1}{2}(y_{2} - v(t))\tau + \frac{1}{4}\kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))\tau^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)\tau^{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \cdots$$

Substitute the obtained operator to Equation (3.5) with n = 1. We have

$$\begin{split} \frac{u_1^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma}u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} &= \frac{y_2 - v(t)}{2\sqrt{v(t)}} + \frac{\kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))\tau}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1}(t)\tau \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}{\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})}. \end{split}$$

To calculate the last term, we use Equation (3.6) and the first equation in (A.2), which gives

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0)}{\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma_0)} = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sigma_0 \sqrt{\tau}} \zeta.$$

The term $\sigma_1^{(\bar{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_1, y_2, T, k)$ becomes

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_{1},y_{2},T,k) &= \frac{y_{2}-v(t)}{2\sqrt{v(t)}} + \frac{\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\tau}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(2x-2k-v(t)\tau). \end{split} \tag{3.10}$$

Note that the first term is equal to 0 because at time t we have $y_2 = v_0$. Equation (3.7) with N = 1 gives

$$\begin{split} \overline{\sigma}_1(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) &= \sqrt{v_0} + \frac{\kappa_1(y_3-y_2)(T-t)}{4\sqrt{y_2}} \\ &- \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_1 y_2^{\alpha_1-1}(2x-2k-y_2(T-t)). \end{split}$$

In particular,

$$\overline{\sigma}_1(t, x_0, y_0, z_0, T, k) = \sqrt{v_0} + \frac{\kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))(T - t)}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} - \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1 - 1}(t)(2x_0 - 2k - v(t)(T - t)).$$

The only possible values for q and m are q = m = 0 and q = 0, m = 1. In the first case, as $(T, k) \to (t, x_0)$ with $|x_0 - k| \le \lambda \sqrt{T - t}$, the second and the third term go to 0, as it should be. In the second case, we calculate the partial derivative

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial k}\overline{\sigma}_1(t,x_0,y_0,z_0,T,k) = \frac{1}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t).$$

3.4 The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 2

Theorem 12. The asymptotic expansion of implied volatility of order 2 in the Gatheral model has the form

$$\sigma(t) = \sqrt{v_0} + \frac{1}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_1 v_0^{\alpha_1 - 1}(t)(k - x_0)$$

$$- \frac{3}{16}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 5/2}(t)(k - x_0)^2$$

$$+ \left[\frac{\kappa_1(v_0'(t) - v_0)}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} + \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_1 v^{\alpha_1}(t) + \frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 3/2}(t) \right] (T - t)$$

$$+ o(T - t + (k - x_0)^2). \tag{3.11}$$

Proof. To calculate $\sigma_2^{(\bar{\mathbf{z}})}(t, x, y_1, y_2, T, k)$, we use the second equation in (3.1). First, we calculate the linear differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_2(t, T)$. This time, the index k takes two values: 1 and 2. The set $I_{2,1}$ is a singleton containing the multi-index $\mathbf{i} = (2)$. The corresponding part of the operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_2(t, T)$ is

$$\int_{t}^{T} a_{11,2}(t_1, \mathcal{M}_1(t, t_1, x), \mathcal{M}_2(t, t_1, y_2), \mathcal{M}_3(t, t_1, y_3)) dt_1 = 0.$$

The set $I_{2,2}$ is also a singleton containing the multi-index $\mathbf{i} = (1,1)$. The operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_2(t,T)$ becomes

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{2}(t,T) = \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \mathcal{G}_{1}(t,t_{1}) \\
\times a_{11,1}(t_{2},\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{2},x),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{2},y_{2}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{2},y_{3})) dt_{2} dt_{1}.$$

Using Equations (2.14), (2.15), and (2.16), we obtain

$$G_{1}(t,t_{1}) = \frac{1}{2} [v(t) - y_{2} - \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t)] \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} [y_{2} - v(t) - \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2} (t_{1} - t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t)] \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2} (t)(t_{1} - t) \frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial x^{3}} + \cdots .$$

The operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_2(t,T)$ takes the form

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{2}(t,T) &= \frac{1}{4} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \left\{ \left[v(t) - y_{2} - \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right. \\ &+ \left[y_{2} - v(t) - \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t_{1} - t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) \right] \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} \\ &+ \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{1} - t) \frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial x^{3}} \right\} \left[y_{2} + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{2} - t) \right. \\ &+ \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{2} - t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - v(t) \right] dt_{2} dt_{1} + \cdots . \end{split}$$

We group all terms with the same partial derivatives together:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{2}(t,T) &= \frac{1}{4} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \left[v(t) - y_{2} - \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) \right] \\ &\times \left[y_{2} - v(t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{2} - t) \right] dt_{2} dt_{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \left\{ \left[v(t) - y_{2} - \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) \right] \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{2} - t) \right. \\ &+ \left[y_{2} - v(t) - \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t_{1} - t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) \right] \\ &\times \left[y_{2} - v(t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{2} - t) \right] \right\} dt_{2} dt_{1} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \left\{ \left[y_{2} - v(t) - \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t_{1} - t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{1} - t) \right] \right. \\ &\times \left. \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{2} - t) + \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{1} - t) \right. \\ &\times \left. \left[y_{2} - v(t) + \kappa_{1}(v'(t) - v(t))(t_{2} - t) \right] \right\} dt_{2} dt_{1} \frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial x^{3}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{1} - t) \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2}(t)(t_{2} - t) dt_{2} dt_{1} \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial x^{4}}, \end{split}$$

and use the values of the following integrals:

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\tau^{2},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} (t_{1} - t) dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{6}\tau^{3},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} (t_{2} - t) dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{3}\tau^{3},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} (t_{1} - t)(t_{2} - t) dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{8}\tau^{4}.$$

The functions $\chi_{m,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)$ become:

$$\chi_{1,1}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) = -\frac{1}{96\sqrt{v(t)}} [12(y_2 - v(t))^2 \tau + 12(y_2 - v(t))\kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))\tau^2$$

$$\begin{split} & + 3\kappa_1^2(v'(t) - v(t))^2\tau^3], \\ \chi_{2,1}^{(\overline{z})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) &= \frac{1}{96\sqrt{v(t)}}[-12(y_2 - v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^2 \\ & - 6\kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^3 + 12(y_2 - v(t))^2\tau \\ & + 12(y_2 - v(t))\kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))\tau^2 \\ & + 3\kappa_1^2(v'(t) - v(t))^2\tau^3], \\ \chi_{3,1}^{(\overline{z})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) &= \frac{1}{96\sqrt{v(t)}}[12(y_2 - v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^2 \\ & - 3\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1+1}(t)\tau^3 \\ & + 6\kappa_1(v'(t) - v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^3], \\ \chi_{4,1}^{(\overline{z})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) &= \frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^3. \end{split}$$

Equation (3.3) gives

$$\begin{split} &\frac{u_2^{(\mathbf{z})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} = \frac{1}{48\sqrt{2}v(t)} [12(y_2-v(t))^2 \tau^{1/2} \\ &+ 12(y_2-v(t))\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\tau^{3/2} + 3\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2 \tau^{5/2}]\zeta \\ &+ \frac{1}{96v^{3/2}(t)} [-12(y_2-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau \\ &- 6\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^2 + 12(y_2-v(t))^2 \\ &+ 12(y_2-v(t))\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\tau + 3\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2\tau^2](2\zeta^2-1) \\ &- \frac{1}{48\sqrt{2}v^2(t)} [12(y_2-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^{1/2} - 3\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1+1}(t)\tau^{3/2} \\ &+ 6\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1+1/2}(t)\tau^{3/2}](2\zeta^3-3\zeta) \\ &+ \frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)\tau(4\zeta^4-12\zeta^2+3). \end{split}$$

We use Equation (3.2) with n = 2:

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \sigma^2} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)} = \frac{2\zeta^2 - \sqrt{2y_2\tau}\zeta}{\sqrt{y_2}}.$$

The second equation in (3.1) gives

$$\begin{split} \sigma_2^{(\overline{z})}(t,x,y_1,y_2,T,k) &= \frac{u_2^{(\overline{z})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{z})})} - \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{2\zeta^2 - \sqrt{2y_2\tau}\zeta}{\sqrt{y_2}} \right] \\ &\times \left[\frac{y_2 - v(t)}{2\sqrt{v(t)}} + \frac{\kappa_1(v(t) - v'(t))\tau}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \rho_{12}\xi_1 v^{\alpha_1 - 1/2}(t)\sqrt{\tau}\zeta \right]^2. \end{split}$$

We do not calculate this expression, but calculate $\overline{\sigma}_2(t, x, y_2, y_3, T, k)$ by Equation (3.7) with N = 2:

$$\begin{split} \overline{\sigma}_2(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k) &= \sqrt{y_2} + \frac{\kappa_1(y_3-y_2)(T-t)}{4\sqrt{y_2}} \\ &- \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_1y_2^{\alpha_1-1}(2x-2k-y_2(T-t)) \\ &+ \frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}y_2}\kappa_1^2(y_3-y_2)^2\tau^{5/2}\zeta \\ &- \frac{\kappa_1(y_3-y_2)\tau^2}{32y_2^{3/2}} \big[2\rho_{12}\xi_1y_2^{\alpha_1+1/2} - \kappa_1(y_3-y_2)\big](2\zeta^2-1) \\ &+ \frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}} \big[\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2y_2^{2\alpha_1-1}\tau^{3/2} \\ &- 2\kappa_1(y_3-y_2)\rho_{12}\xi_1y_2^{\alpha_1-3/2}\tau^{3/2}\big](2\zeta^3-3\zeta) \\ &+ \frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2y_2^{2\alpha_1-3/2}\tau(4\zeta^4-12\zeta^2+3) \\ &- \frac{2\zeta^2-\sqrt{2y_2\tau}\zeta}{2\sqrt{y_2}} \left[\frac{\kappa_1(y_3-y_2)\tau}{4\sqrt{y_2}} - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\rho_{12}\xi_1y_2^{\alpha_1-1/2}\sqrt{\tau}\zeta\right]^2. \end{split}$$

In particular,

$$\overline{\sigma}_{2}(t, x_{0}, y_{0}, z_{0}, T, k) = \sqrt{y_{2}} + \frac{\kappa_{1}(v(t) - v'(t))(T - t)}{4\sqrt{v(t)}}$$

$$- \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1} - 1}(t)(2x_{0} - 2k - v(t)(T - t))$$

$$+ \frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}v(t)}\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t) - v(t))^{2}(T - t)^{5/2}\zeta$$

$$\begin{split} &+\frac{\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))(T-t)^{2}}{32v^{3/2}(t)}[2\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)-\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))](2\zeta^{2}-1)\\ &+\frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(T-t)^{3/2}(2\zeta^{3}-3\zeta)\\ &+\frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-3/2}(t)(T-t)(4\zeta^{4}-12\zeta^{2}+3)\\ &-\frac{2\zeta^{2}-\sqrt{2y_{2}\tau}\zeta}{2\sqrt{y_{2}}}\left[\frac{\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))(T-t)}{4\sqrt{v(t)}}\right.\\ &-\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1/2}(t)\sqrt{T-t}\zeta\right]^{2}. \end{split}$$

When we substitute ζ we get

$$\begin{split} \overline{\sigma}_2(t,x_0,y_0,z_0,T,k) &= \sqrt{y_2} + \frac{\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))(T-t)}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} \\ &- \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t)(2x_0-2k-v(t)(T-t)) \\ &+ \frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)^2(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2)}{64v^{3/2}(t)} \\ &- \frac{1}{32}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))(T-t)\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-2}(t)(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{16}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))(T-t)^2\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t) \\ &+ \frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2)^2}{32v^{5/2}(t)} \\ &- \frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)^2}{32v^{3/2}(t)} + \frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-5/2}(t)(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2)^3 \\ &- \frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(T-t)(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2) \\ &- \frac{1}{16}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-3}(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2)^3 \\ &+ \frac{3}{16}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-2}(T-t)(x_0-k-v(t)(T-t)/2) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \frac{\rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 3}(t) (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)^4}{32(T - t)} \\ &- \frac{3}{16} \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 3/2}(t) (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)^2 + \frac{3}{32} \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 1}(t)(T - t) \\ &- \frac{\kappa_1^2 (v'(t) - v(t))^2 (T - t)^2 (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)}{32 v^{3/2}(t)} \\ &- \frac{\kappa_1^2 (v'(t) - v(t))^2 (T - t) (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)^2}{32 v^{5/2}(t)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} \kappa_1 (v'(t) - v(t)) \rho_{12} \xi_1 v^{\alpha_1 - 2}(t) (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} \kappa_1 (v'(t) - v(t)) \rho_{12} \xi_1 v^{\alpha_1 - 3}(t) (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)^3 \\ &- \frac{1}{32} \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 5/2}(t) (x_0 - k - v(t)(T - t)/2)^4. \end{split}$$

We do the multiplication to get:

$$\begin{split} \overline{\sigma}_{2}(t,x_{0},y_{0},z_{0},T,k) &= \sqrt{v_{0}} + \frac{\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))(T-t)}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(x_{0}-k) + \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t)(T-t) \\ &+ \frac{\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}(T-t)^{2}(x_{0}-k)}{32v^{3/2}(t)} - \frac{\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}(T-t)^{3}}{64\sqrt{v(t)}} \\ &- \frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-2}(t)(T-t)(x_{0}-k)^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(T-t)^{2}(x_{0}-k) \\ &- \frac{1}{64}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t)(T-t)^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(T-t)^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}(T-t)(x_{0}-k)^{2}}{32v^{5/2}(t)} - \frac{\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}(T-t)^{2}(x_{0}-k)}{32v^{3/2}(t)} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+\frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)^3}{128\sqrt{v(t)}} - \frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)^2}{32v^{3/2}(t)} \\ &+\frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-5/2}(t)(x_0-k)^3 - \frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)^2(T-t) \\ &+\frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-1/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t)^2 - \frac{1}{256}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1+1/2}(t)(T-t)^3 \\ &-\frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t) + \frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-1/2}(t)(T-t)^2 \\ &-\frac{1}{16}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-3}(t)(x_0-k)^3 \\ &+\frac{3}{32}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-2}(t)(T-t)(x_0-k)^2 \\ &-\frac{3}{64}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t)(T-t)^2(x_0-k) \\ &+\frac{1}{128}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t)(T-t)^3 \\ &+\frac{3}{16}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-2}(t)(T-t)(x_0-k) \\ &-\frac{3}{32}\kappa_1(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1-1}(t)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-7/2}(t)(x_0-k)^4}{32(T-t)} - \frac{1}{16}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-5/2}(t)(x_0-k)^3 \\ &+\frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)^2(T-t) \\ &-\frac{1}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{1}{512}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{1}{512}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t) - \frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-1/2}(t)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t) - \frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-1/2}(t)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t) - \frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-1/2}(t)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(x_0-k)(T-t) - \frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-1/2}(t)(T-t)^2 \\ &+\frac{3}{16}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)(T-t) - \frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)^2(x_0-k)}{32v^{3/2}(t)} \\ &+\frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)^3}{64v^{1/2}(t)} - \frac{\kappa_1^2(v'(t)-v(t))^2(T-t)(x_0-k)^2}{32\sqrt{v^{5/2}(t)}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{1}{32}\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}v^{-3/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)(T-t)^{2} \\ &-\frac{1}{128}\kappa_{1}^{2}(v'(t)-v(t))^{2}v^{-1/2}(t)(T-t)^{3} \\ &+\frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-2}(t)(T-t)(x_{0}-k)^{2} \\ &+\frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(T-t)^{2}(x_{0}-k) \\ &+\frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(T-t)^{3} \\ &+\frac{1}{16}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-3}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{3} \\ &-\frac{3}{32}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{2}(T-t) \\ &+\frac{3}{64}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-1}(t)(x_{0}-k)(T-t)^{2} \\ &-\frac{1}{128}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t)(T-t)^{3} \\ &-\frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-5/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{3}+\frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-3/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{2}(T-t) \\ &-\frac{3}{128}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-5/2}(t)(T-t)^{2}(x_{0}-k) \\ &+\frac{1}{256}\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}(t)(T-t)^{3} \\ &-\frac{1}{32}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-5/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{3} \\ &-\frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-5/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{3} \\ &-\frac{3}{64}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-5/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{2}(T-t) \\ &+\frac{1}{64}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-3/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)^{2}(T-t) \\ &-\frac{1}{64}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-1/2}(t)(x_{0}-k)(T-t)^{2} \\ &-\frac{1}{512}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-1/2}(t)(T-t)^{3}. \end{split}$$

We write the expression in the following form $\sum C_i (T-t)^{\alpha_i} |x_0 - k|^{\beta_i}$:

$$\begin{split} \overline{\sigma}_2 &= \sqrt{v_0} \\ &+ \left[\frac{1}{4} \kappa_1 (v_0' - v(t)) v^{-1/2} + \frac{1}{8} \rho_{12} \xi_1 v_0^{\alpha_1} + \frac{3}{32} \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v_0^{2\alpha_1 - 3/2} \right] (T - t) \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \rho_{12} \xi_1 v_0^{\alpha_1 - 1} (x_0 - k) - \frac{3}{16} \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1 v_0^{2\alpha_1 - 5/2} (x_0 - k)^2 \\ &+ \frac{3}{32} \left[2 \kappa_1 (v_0' - v_0) \rho_{12} \xi_1 v_0^{\alpha_1 - 2} + \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v_0^{2\alpha_1 - 3/2} \right] (T - t) (x_0 - k) \quad (3.12) \\ &- \frac{1}{32} \left[\kappa_1 (v_0' - v_0) \rho_{12} \xi_1 v_0^{\alpha_1 - 1} + \kappa_1^2 (v_0' - v_0)^2 v_0^{-3/2} \right] (T - t)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{128} \left[22 \kappa_1 (v_0' - v_0) \rho_{12} \xi_1 v_0^{\alpha_1 - 1} + 4 \kappa_1^2 (v_0' - v_0)^2 v_0^{-3/2} \right. \\ &+ 3 \rho_{12}^2 \xi_1^2 v_0^{2\alpha_1 - 1/2} \right] (T - t)^2 (x_0 - k). \end{split}$$

We group together all terms that include $(T-t)^q |x_0 - k|^m$ with 2q + m = 2. The term with q = 0 and m = 2 is

$$-\frac{3}{16}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-5/2}(t)(k-x_0)^2.$$

The term with q = 1 and m = 0 is

$$\left[\frac{\kappa_1(v(t)-v'(t))}{4\sqrt{v(t)}}+\frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_1v^{\alpha_1}(t)+\frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v^{2\alpha_1-3/2}(t)\right](T-t).$$

These terms give the contribution of order 2 to Equation (3.11).

3.5 The Asymptotic Expansion of Order 3

Theorem 13. The asymptotic expansion of implied volatility of order 3 in the Gatheral model has the form

$$\sigma = \sqrt{v_0} + \frac{1}{4}\rho_{12}\xi_1 v^{\alpha_1 - 1}(t)(k - x_0)$$
$$-\frac{3}{16}\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2 v^{2\alpha_1 - 5/2}(t)(k - x_0)^2$$

$$+\left[\frac{\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))}{4\sqrt{v(t)}} + \frac{1}{8}\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}}(t) + \frac{3}{32}\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v^{2\alpha_{1}-3/2}(t)\right](T-t)$$

$$+\frac{1}{128}\left[16\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-3} + 8\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v_{0}^{2\alpha_{1}-5/2}\right]$$

$$-32\rho_{12}^{3}\xi_{1}^{3}v_{0}^{3\alpha_{1}-4}(k-x_{0})^{3}$$

$$+\frac{1}{128}\left[24\kappa_{1}(v'(t)-v(t))\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v^{\alpha_{1}-2} + 12\rho_{12}^{2}\xi_{1}^{2}v_{0}^{2\alpha_{1}-3/2}\right]$$

$$+35\rho_{12}^{3}\xi_{1}^{3}v_{0}^{3\alpha_{1}-3} - 8\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v_{0}^{\alpha_{1}}(T-t)(k-x_{0})$$

$$+\rho((T-t)^{3/2}+|k-x_{0}|^{3}).$$

Proof. Note that the first two coefficients of $(T-t)(k-x_0)$ go from (3.12). First, we calculate the linear differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_3(t,T)$. The sets $I_{3,k}$ have the form

$$I_{3,1} = \{(3)\}, \qquad I_{3,2} = \{(1,2),(2,1)\}, \qquad I_{3,3} = \{(1,1,1)\}.$$

Note that $a_{(2,0,0)^{\top},2} = a_{(2,0,0)^{\top},3} = 0$, which makes the terms with k = 1 and $(k = 2, \mathbf{i} = (1,2))$ in (3.4) equal to 0. Equation (2.13) gives $\mathcal{G}_2(t,t_m) = 0$, which excludes the term with $(k = 2, \mathbf{i} = (2,1))$. We obtain

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{3}(t,T) = \int_{t}^{T} dt_{1} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} dt_{2} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} dt_{3} \,\mathcal{G}_{1}(t,t_{1}) \mathcal{G}_{1}(t,t_{2})
\times a_{(2,0,0)^{T},1}(t,\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{3}),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{3}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{3})).$$

Observe that the differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_3(t,T)$ will be applied to the Black–Scholes price, which does not depend on v and v'. We denote by \cdots all terms that contain partial derivatives with respect to the above two variables. In particular, we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{1}(t,t_{m}) = a_{(2,0,0)^{\mathsf{T}},1}(t,\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{m}),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{m}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{m})) \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)$$
(3.13)

with

$$a_{(2,0,0)^{\top},1}(t,\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{m}),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{m}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{m}))$$

$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(v-v_{0}+(t_{m}-t)\kappa_{1}(v'-v)+(t_{m}-t)\rho_{12}\xi_{1}v_{0}^{\alpha_{1}+1/2}\frac{\partial}{\partial x}+\cdots\right).$$
(3.14)

The differential operator $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_3(t,T)$ takes the form

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{3}(t,T) &= \int_{t}^{T} \mathrm{d}t_{1} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \mathrm{d}t_{2} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} \mathrm{d}t_{3} \\ &\times a_{(2,0,0)^{T},1}(t,\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{1}),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{1}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{1})) \\ &\times \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) a_{(2,0,0)^{T},1}(t,\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{2}),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{2}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{2})) \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) \\ &\times a_{(2,0,0)^{T},1}(t,\mathcal{M}_{1}(t,t_{3}),\mathcal{M}_{2}(t,t_{3}),\mathcal{M}_{3}(t,t_{3})). \end{split}$$

Substitute Equations (3.13) and (3.14) to the last display formula, group like terms, and introduce the following notation:

$$A(s,t) = v - v_0 + (s-t)\kappa_1(v'-v), \qquad B(s,t) = (s-t)\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1+1/2}.$$

Equation (3.4) takes the form

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{3}(t,T) &= \frac{1}{8} \int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} \left[B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \frac{\partial^{7}}{\partial x^{7}} \right. \\ &+ \left[B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) - 2B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right] \frac{\partial^{6}}{\partial x^{6}} + \left[-2B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right] \frac{\partial^{6}}{\partial x^{6}} + \left[-2B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) + A(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &- \left. 2B(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) - 2A(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right] \frac{\partial^{5}}{\partial x^{5}} \\ &+ \left[-2B(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) - 2A(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) + A(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)B(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right] \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial x^{4}} + \left[-2A(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right] \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial x^{4}} + \left[-2A(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \right. \\ &+ \left. B(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)B(t_{3},t) \right] \frac{\partial^{3}}{\partial x^{3}} + A(t_{1},t)A(t_{2},t)A(t_{3},t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{2}} \right] dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1}. \end{split}$$

To simplify this expression, the following integrals are important:

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{6} (T - t)^{3},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{1} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{8} (T - t)^{4},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{2} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{12} (T - t)^{4},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{3} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{24} (T - t)^{4},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{1} - t)(t_{2} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{15} (T - t)^{5},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{1} - t)(t_{3} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{30} (T - t)^{5},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{2} - t)(t_{3} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{40} (T - t)^{5},$$

$$\int_{t}^{T} \int_{t_{1}}^{T} \int_{t_{2}}^{T} (t_{1} - t)(t_{2} - t)(t_{3} - t) dt_{3} dt_{2} dt_{1} = \frac{1}{48} (T - t)^{6}.$$

Equations (3.5), (3.6), and (A.2) give

$$\frac{u_3^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,x,y_2,y_3,T,k)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma_0^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})})} = \sum_{m=2}^7 \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_0 \sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^m \chi_{m,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) H_m(\zeta),$$

where

$$\begin{split} \chi_{2,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) &= \frac{1}{48}\tau^2(v-v_0)^3v_0^{-1/2} + \frac{1}{32}\tau^3(v-v_0)^2\kappa_1(v'-v)v_0^{-1/2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{64}\tau^4(v-v_0)\kappa_1^2(v'-v)^2v_0^{-1/2} + \frac{1}{384}\tau^5\kappa_1^3(v'-v)^3v_0^{-1/2}, \\ \chi_{3,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) &= -\frac{1}{24}\tau^2(v-v_0)^3v_0^{-1/2} - \frac{1}{16}\tau^3(v-v_0)^2\kappa_1(v'-v)v_0^{-1/2} \\ &- \frac{1}{32}\tau^4(v-v_0)\kappa_1^2(v'-v)^2v_0^{-1/2} - \frac{1}{192}\tau^5\kappa_1^3(v'-v)^3v_0^{-1/2} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+\frac{1}{32}\tau^3\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}(v-v_0)+\frac{1}{128}\tau^5\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}\kappa_1^2(v'-v)^2\\ &+\frac{1}{32}\tau^4\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}(v-v_0)(v'-v),\\ \chi_{4,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)=-\frac{1}{16}\tau^3\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}(v-v_0)^2\\ &-\frac{1}{16}\tau^4\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}(v-v_0)\kappa_1(v'-v)-\frac{1}{64}\tau^5\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}\kappa_1^2(v'-v)^2\\ &+\frac{1}{64}\tau^4\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v_0^{2\alpha_1+1/2}(v-v_0)+\frac{1}{128}\tau^5\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v_0^{2\alpha_1+1/2}\kappa_1(v'-v)\\ &+\frac{1}{48}\tau^2v_0^{-1/2}(v-v_0)^3+\frac{1}{32}\tau^3v_0^{-1/2}(v-v_0)^2\kappa_1(v'-v)\\ &+\frac{1}{64}\tau^4v_0^{-1/2}(v-v_0)\kappa_1^2(v'-v)^2+\frac{1}{384}\tau^5v_0^{-1/2}\kappa_1^3(v'-v)^3,\\ \chi_{5,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)&=-\frac{1}{32}\tau^4\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v_0^{2\alpha_1+1/2}(v-v_0)+\frac{1}{128}\tau^5\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}\kappa_1^2(v'-v)^2\\ &+\frac{1}{32}\tau^4\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}(v-v_0)(v'-v)-\frac{1}{64}\tau^5\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v_0^{2\alpha_1+1/2}\kappa_1(v'-v)\\ &+\frac{1}{32}\tau^3\rho_{12}\xi_1v_0^{\alpha_1}(v-v_0)^2+\frac{1}{384}\tau^5\rho_{12}^3\xi_1^3v_0^{3\alpha_1+1},\\ \chi_{6,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)&=\frac{1}{64}\tau^4\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v_0^{2\alpha_1+1/2}(v-v_0)-\frac{1}{192}\tau^5\rho_{12}^3\xi_1^3v_0^{3\alpha_1+1}\\ &+\frac{1}{128}\tau^5\rho_{12}^2\xi_1^2v_0^{2\alpha_1+1/2}\kappa_1(v'-v),\\ \chi_{7,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)&=\frac{1}{384}\tau^5\rho_{12}^3\xi_1^3v_0^{3\alpha_1+1}. \end{split}$$

Observe that the right hand side of the equation for $\chi_{2,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)$ has 4 terms. Each of them is multiplied by $4\zeta^2 - 2$ that also contains 4 terms. Overall, we have 285 terms here. Which of them give a contribution to the asymptotic expansion? We explain this issue using $\chi_{2,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)$ as an example.

First, the terms with nonzero powers of $v - v_0$ give no contribution by the same reason as previously. The only term which may give contribution is

$$\frac{1}{384}(T-t)^5\kappa_1^3(v'-v)^3v_0^{-1/2}.$$

After multiplying by $\left(\frac{1}{\sigma_0\sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^2$, it becomes $\frac{1}{768}(T-t)^4\kappa_1^3(v'-v)^3v_0^{-3/2}$. Write ζ in the following form:

$$\zeta = \frac{x - k}{\sigma \sqrt{2(T - t)}} - \frac{\sigma \sqrt{T - t}}{2\sqrt{2}}.$$

Checking all 16 terms of the product

$$\frac{1}{768}(T-t)^4\kappa_1^3(v'-v)^3v_0^{-3/2}(4\zeta^2-2),$$

we see that no term has either the form $C(k-x_0)^3$ or $C(k-x_0)(T-t)$. There are no contributions to the asymptotic expansion here.

We continue at the same way and find two contributions from the term $\left(\frac{1}{\sigma_0\sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^7\chi_{7,3}^{(\bar{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k)H_7(\zeta)$. The first one is

$$\left(\frac{1}{\sigma_0\sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^7 \chi_{7,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) \times 3360 \left(\frac{x-k}{\sigma\sqrt{2(T-t)}}\right)^3,$$

which gives the third coefficient in $(k - x_0)^3$. The second one is

$$\left(\frac{1}{\sigma_0\sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^7 \chi_{7,3}^{(\overline{\mathbf{z}})}(t,\mathbf{z},T,k) \times (-1680) \frac{x-k}{\sigma\sqrt{2(T-t)}},$$

which gives the third coefficient in $(T - t)(k - x_0)$.

So far we calculated the contribution of the first term in the right hand side of the third equation in (3.1). We proceed to the second term.

The terms $\sigma_1^{(\bar{z})}(t, x, y_1, y_2, T, k)$ and $\sigma_2^{(\bar{z})}(t, x, y_1, y_2, T, k)$ are given by Equations (3.10) and (3.12). For the last term Equation (3.2) gives

$$\begin{split} \frac{\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \sigma^2} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)} &= \sum_{q=0}^{1} c_{2,2-2q} v_0^{1-2q} (T-t)^{1-q} \sum_{p=0}^{1-q} \binom{1-q}{p} \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{v_0 \sqrt{2(T-t)}} \right)^{p+1-q} H_{p+1-q}(\zeta) \\ &= v_0 (T-t) \left[\frac{H_1(\zeta)}{v_0 \sqrt{2(T-t)}} + \frac{H_2(\zeta)}{2v_0^2 (T-t)} \right] + v_0^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Using Equation (A.2), we find

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \sigma^2} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)} = -\frac{\sqrt{v_0}}{2} + v_0^{-3/2} (x - k)^2 (T - t)^{-1}.$$

The product of 3 terms in Equation (3.10), 12 terms in Equation (3.12), and 3 terms in the last display contains 72 terms. Of that, three terms contribute to all coefficients in $(k - x_0)^3$ and one term contributes to the last coefficient in $(k - x_0)(T - t)$.

We proceed to calculate the term $\frac{\frac{\partial^3}{\partial \sigma^3} u^{BS}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{BS}(\sigma)}$. Equation (3.2) gives

$$\begin{split} \frac{\frac{\partial^3}{\partial \sigma^3} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma)} &= \sum_{q=0}^1 c_{3,3-2q} \sigma^{2-2q} \tau^{2-q} \sum_{p=0}^{2-q} \binom{2-q}{p} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma \sqrt{2\tau}}\right)^{p+2-q} H_{p+2-q}(\zeta) \\ &= \frac{\tau}{2} H_2(\zeta) + \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{\sqrt{2}\sigma} H_3(\zeta) + \frac{1}{4\sigma^2} H_4(\zeta) + \frac{3\sqrt{\tau}}{\sqrt{2}\sigma} H_1(\zeta) \\ &+ \frac{3}{2\sigma^2} H_2(\zeta). \end{split}$$

Using Equation (A.2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{\frac{\partial^3}{\partial \sigma^3} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\text{BS}}(\sigma)} &= \tau (2\zeta^2 - 1) + \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{\sigma} (4\sqrt{2}\zeta^3 - 6\sqrt{2}\zeta) + \frac{1}{\sigma^2} (4\zeta^4 - 12\zeta^2 + 3) \\ &\quad + \frac{3\sqrt{2\tau}}{\sigma} \zeta + \frac{3}{\sigma^2} (2\zeta^2 - 1) \\ &= \frac{4}{\sigma^2} \zeta^4 + \frac{4\sqrt{2\tau}}{\sigma} \zeta^3 + \left(2\tau - \frac{6}{\sigma^2}\right) \zeta^2 - \frac{3\sqrt{2\tau}}{\sigma} \zeta - \tau, \end{split}$$

and finally,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\frac{\partial^3}{\partial \sigma^3} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma)}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} u^{\mathrm{BS}}(\sigma)} &= \frac{1}{\sigma^6} (x-k)^4 \tau^{-2} - \frac{1}{2\sigma^2} (x-k)^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{16} \tau^2 - \frac{3}{\sigma^4} (x-k)^2 \tau^{-1} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{4} \tau. \end{split}$$

The term $(\sigma_1^{(\overline{z})}(t, x, y_1, y_2, T, k))^3$ contains 4 parts. Its product by the right hand side of the last display contains 24 terms and no of them give any contribution to the asymptotic expansion of order 3.

Chapter 4

Model Calibration

This Chapter is based on Papers C and D.

Numerical studies of implied volatility expansions under the Gatheral model

M. Dimitrov, M. Albuhayri, Y. Ni, A Malyarenko

Applied Modeling Techniques and Data Analysis 2: Financial, Demographic, Stochastic and Statistical Models and Methods, vol. 9 of Big data, artificial intelligence, and data analysis set, K. N. Zafeiris, C. H. Skiadas, Y. Dimotikalis, A. Karagrigoriu, C. Karagrigoriou-Vonta, (eds.), Wiley, 2022, Chapter 10, pp. 135–148.

Numerical studies of the implied volatility expansions up to third order under the Gatheral model

M. Albuhayri, S. Silvestrov, M. Dimitrov, Y. Ni, A. Malyarenko

Accepted for publication, presented at the 7th Stochastic Modeling Techniques and Data Analysis International Conference (SMTDA2022) and Demographics 2022 Workshop, (hybrid) Athens, Greece, June 7–10, 2022.

4.1 Introduction

The calibration of a financial model can be described as a reversal process of an optimisation problem. Thus, in calibration, we know the answer (the price of contracts) and want to find the problem (the parameters). Therefore, the price of a financial instrument is not the objective in the first place but rather to get a set of parameters for a specific model that generates values for financial instruments consistent with the market. It is a reversal process of the whole theoretical valuation.

In order to go through this process, one need to pay serious attention to some fundamental questions that arise.

4.1.1 Why We Do Calibration?

In the famous Black—Scholes formula which takes five variables as inputs: the price of the underlying, the strike price, time to maturity, interest rate and the volatility. If we put numerical values for the five variables, then the formula returns a value for the option. This called the theoretical value of the model and it is based on the assumptions that in an efficient market, one can observe anything in the market and eventually calculate the price of the security.

Nevertheless, if this is the case and the market is always right, what does a deviated model value from an observed market value mean?

One of the fundamental conditions of a financial market is to be complete, meaning that any given derivative can be replicated perfectly by trading in its underlying. In contrast, market incompleteness can be a hurdle when derivative assets have multiple prices. Calibration comes into play to solve this issue because when calibration returns the market-consistent values for the derivative product, it chooses the right risk-neutral probability measure.

4.1.2 What Error Function?

To judge the reliability of the calibration, one needs a tool to measure the calibration's performance, an error function to be minimised. Moreover, when choosing an error function for calibration purpose, the objective of calibration e.g. valuation, speculation and hedging should be taken into consideration

Christoffersen and Jacobs (2004). There are many error functions in the literature, for instance more often the performance of options pricing models is evaluated using the mean-square error loss function which is given by:

$$MSE(\theta) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (C_i - C_i(\theta))^2,$$

where θ is the set of model parameters to be calibrated.

Some researchers prefer the relative option price differences of the loss function due to the fact that the previous function assigns a lot of weight to options with high valuations and thus high error. The mean square error of the relative error price differences is defined as

$$RMSE(\theta) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(C_i - C_i(\theta))^2}{C_i}.$$

This type of error function emphasises out-of-money products. Another popular choices of the error function is the mean error of the implied volatility difference and it is given by:

$$IVMSE(\theta) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\sigma_i - \sigma_i(\theta))^2,$$

where σ_i and $\sigma_i(\theta)$ are the market and model implied volatility respectively. Finally, in Pagliarani and Pascucci (2017) paper which has been used extensively in this work, the error function has the following form.

$$P\&P\ MSE(\theta) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{|\sigma_i - \sigma_i(\theta)|}{\sigma_i}.$$

It is important to note that relying on the specific error function, the resulting model parameters may vary.

4.1.3 What Market Data to Calibrate a Model?

There are relevant questions to the type of market data that one should try to calibrate a mode, for instance: what the associate index is when analysing stock index derivatives? For instance, S&P 500, Dow Jones, Nasdaq,

and EURO STOXX 50 could be candidates. Another question is about the concrete options quotes to be used for the calibration e.g. option strikes and maturities. Moreover, there are different quotes per options, like ask, bid, last and settlement price. One also might need to modify the raw data since there is no guarantee that market prices are arbitrage-free.

4.2 The Results

Before conducting numerical analysis on asymptotic expansions under the Gatheral model, one needs to check the accuracy of the expansions against a benchmark value. In order to do that, we try to calculate the option price in Gatheral model using Fourier–based method and compare it with the expansions. Unfortunately, this was not possible due to the fact that the Gatheral model is not an affine process in the general case and therefore not compatible with the Fourier–based method. We explain below why the Gatheral model is not affine.

$$dS_t = \sqrt{\nu_t} S_t dW_t^1,$$

$$dv_t = \kappa_1 (v_t' - v_t) dt + \xi_1 v_t^{\alpha_1} dW_t^2,$$

$$dv_t' = \kappa_2 (\theta - v_t') dt + \xi_2 v_t'^{\alpha_2} dW_t^3,$$

where the Wiener processes W_t^i are correlated: $E[W_s^i W_t^j] = \rho_{ij} \min\{s, t\}$. After transition to the logarithmic price $s_t = \ln S_t$, we write it in the form

$$d\mathbf{X}_t = \boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{X}_t) dt + \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\mathbf{X}_t) d\mathbf{W}_t,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{X}_{t} &= \begin{pmatrix} s_{t} \\ v_{t}' \\ v_{t}' \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{X}_{t}) = \begin{pmatrix} -v_{t}/2 \\ \kappa_{1}(v_{t}' - v_{t}) \\ \kappa_{2}(\theta - v_{t}') \end{pmatrix}, \\ \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\mathbf{X}_{t}) \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\top}(\mathbf{X}_{t}) &= \begin{pmatrix} v_{t} & \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v_{t}^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2} & \rho_{13} \xi_{2} v_{t}^{1/2} v_{t}^{\prime \alpha_{2}} \\ \rho_{12} \xi_{1} v_{t}^{\alpha_{1} + 1/2} & \xi_{1}^{2} v_{t}^{2} & \rho_{23} \xi_{1} \xi_{2} v_{t}^{\alpha_{1}} v_{t}^{\prime \alpha_{2}} \\ \rho_{13} \xi_{2} v_{t}^{1/2} v_{t}^{\prime \alpha_{2}} & \rho_{23} \xi_{1} \xi_{2} v_{t}^{\alpha_{1}} v_{t}^{\prime \alpha_{2}} & \xi_{7}^{2} v_{t}^{\prime 2} v_{2}^{\prime 2} \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

By definition, the system is affine if and only if both the vector $\mu(\mathbf{X}_t)$ and the matrix $\Sigma(\mathbf{X}_t)\Sigma^{\top}(\mathbf{X}_t)$ may be written in the form

$$\mu(\mathbf{X}_t) = \mathbf{K}_0 + \mathbf{K}_1 s_t + \mathbf{K}_2 v_t + \mathbf{K}_3 v_t',$$

$$\Sigma(\mathbf{X}_t) \Sigma^{\top}(\mathbf{X}_t) = H_0 + H_1 s_t + H_2 v_t + H_3 v_t',$$

where all vectors and matrices are constants. It is easy to see that this may happen if and only if $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 1/2$, $\rho_{13} = \rho_{23} = 0$. For Fourier-based option pricing method, we refer to Heston (1993) who introduces this method to mathematical finance and also to the important work of Carr and Madan (1999) and Lewis (2001).

Therefore, we are left with the Monte-Carlo method as the only mean of checking the accuracy of our asymptotic expansions. Thus, we use the Monte-Carlo simulation to generate the benchmark value for the implied volatilities. All errors are calculated by treating the benchmark values as the exact values. The parameters used for the simulation are given in Dimitrov et al. (2022, Table 1). The performance of the asymptotic expansions of the implied volatility of the first and second order under the Gatheral model is investigated. We focus on two special cases of the Gatheral model given in (1.8): the double Heston model and the double lognormal model.

We consider 130 options with ten maturities (30, 60, 91, 122, 152, 182, 273, 365, 547, and 730 calendar days) and with log-moneyness between -0.2 and 0.2 and report the proportion of options that can be approximated within a relative error of 5% using the second-order asymptotic expansion. For the Double Heston model, this proportion is 45% of all options. However, the accuracy becomes much higher for options with log-moneyness between -0.1 and 0.07, and maturities from 30 days to 1 year.

It can be seen in Dimitrov et al. (2022, Fig 1 and Fig 2), the asymptotic expansions of order 1 and 2 of the implied volatility and the benchmark values for two different maturities, 30 days and 1 year respectively. The asymptotic expansion of order 2 gives better result as expected and it is more accurate for maturities shorter than 1 year.

For the Double Lognormal model, with the second order expansion, the corresponding proportion of option that can be approximated within a relative error of 5% is around 55%. For options with log-moneyness between -0.07 and 0.096, and maturities from 30 days to 1 year options, the accuracy again becomes higher.

Similarly, we conducted extensive studies in paper **D** to check and compare the accuracy of the asymptotic expansions of the implied volatility up to order 3. The parameter choices come from Gatheral (2008). We consider 100 options with strike prices varying from 80 to 122 with maturities ranging

from 30 days to 2 years and log-moneyness between -0.2 and 0.2 as well as for shorter range of log-moneyness between -0.1 and 0.1. Figures 1 in paper \mathbf{D} gives examples of the relative errors of asymptotic expansions of orders 1, 2 and 3 of the implied volatility compared to the Monte–Carlo benchmark value for 4 different times to maturities, 30 days, 60 days, 1 year and 2 years, respectively. For these maturities, we use a larger number of 500 time steps. The accuracy of asymptotic expansion of order one can only give a decent approximation for a maturity of 30 day. In contrast, the asymptotic expansions of order two and three give good performances for maturities up to 2 years and are almost identical, though we hope that order three expansion gives much better result. Moreover, for the first order expansion with a range of log-moneyness between -0.1 and 0.1, the proportion of options that can be approximated within a relative error of 5% is around 67% in Fig. 1a in paper \mathbf{D} for 30 days of maturities.

In contrast, the accuracy becomes higher for the second and third order expansions in Fig. 1 in paper $\bf D$ with almost 70% of options within relative error of 5% in Fig. 1a and Fig. 1b and Fig. 1c in paper $\bf D$ and a 100% of options within error of 5% for 2 years of options. Similar experiments have been done using long range of log-moneyness, the results are alike. Parts of the experiment is presented in Table 3 in paper $\bf D$.

In Gatheral (2008) and Bayer et al. (2013) Gatheral et al. shown that the model given in (1.8) calibrated so well for the SPX and VIX indices using a multitude of long and complicated steps. Though, there is no need to repeat the calibration procedure for this model, we are motivated by two reasons:

- 1. We have analytical solutions under the Gatheral model; the asymptotic expansions of implied volatility for European option.
- 2. The model has not been calibrated to equity stock before.

We propose a partial calibration procedure for some model parameters or some group of parameters in Dimitrov et al. (2022). The calibration procedure is implemented on real and synthetic market data of daily implied volatility surfaces for an underlying market index; EURO Stoxx 50 index and underlying equity stock; ABB stock for periods both before and during the pandemic crisis. The data set consists of 10 time to maturities 30, 60, 91, 122,

152, 182, 273, 365, 547, and 730 calendar days. There are also 30 strike prices obtained from the well-known Greek Deltas (0.20+0.05n, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., 12).

We exploit the simplicity of the asymptotic expansions of order one and two to perform daily calibration for the expansion parameters. As expected, the calibrated parameters give values with fairly small differences compare to the true values, see Dimitrov et al. (2022, Table 2). Also, when applying the calibration procedure to the real market data, we note clearly the effect of the pandemic on the model. For instance, we calibrated the daily value of the volatility process of the ABB stock and Eurostock 50 Index, respectively in Dimitrov et al. (2022, Fig 3 and Fig 4). This is the period when Covid-19 start to spread in Europe and as a result high volatility was expected. The effect of the pandemic was more clear on the ABB stock compare to Eurostock 50 Index. We also note stabilisation issue and some extreme values during the calibration, therefore, one should pay particular attention to the calibration when the market is undergoing a similar crisis.

Bibliography

- Louis François Antoine Arbogast. *Du Calcul Des Derivations*. Levrault, Strasbourg, 1800. URL https://books.google.se/books?id=YoPq8uCy5Y8C.
- Louis Bachelier. Théorie de la spéculation. *Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.* (3), 17: 21–86, 1900. ISSN 0012-9593. URL http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASENS_1900_3_17__21_0.
- Louis Bachelier. *Calcul des probabilités: Tome I.* Calcul des probabilités: Tome I. Gauthier-Villars, 1912. URL https://books.google.se/books?id=wr1UAAAAYAAJ.
- Louis Bachelier. *Le jeu, la chance et le hasard*. Bibliothèque de philosophie scientifique. E. Flammarion, 1914. URL https://books.google.se/books?id=8jc7AQAAIAAJ.
- Louis Bachelier. *Le jeu, la chance et le hasard*. Bibliothèque de philosophie scientifique. E. Flammarion, 1929. URL https://books.google.se/books?id=tTHvAAAAMAAJ.
- Louis Bachelier. *Calcul des probabilités*. Les Grands Classiques Gauthier-Villars. [Gauthier-Villars Great Classics]. Éditions Jacques Gabay, Sceaux, 1992. ISBN 2-87647-090-X. Reprint of the 1912 original.
- Louis Bachelier. *Le jeu, la chance et le hasard*. Éditions Jacques Gabay, Sceaux, 1993. ISBN 2-87647-147-7. Reprint of the 1914 original.

- Louis Bachelier. *Théorie de la spéculation*. Les Grands Classiques Gauthier-Villars. [Gauthier-Villars Great Classics]. Éditions Jacques Gabay, Sceaux, 1995. ISBN 2-87647-129-9. Théorie mathématique du jeu. [Mathematical theory of games], Reprint of the 1900 original.
- Louis Bachelier. Theory of speculation [reprinted from the random character of stock market prices ([1900] 1964), MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 17–78]. In Financial risk measurement and management, volume 267 of Internat. Lib. Crit. Writ. Econ., pages 135–196. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, 2012.
- Louis Bachelier. *Le Jeu, La Chance Et Le Hasard...* Creative Media Partners, LLC, 2018. ISBN 9780341108887. URL https://books.google.se/books?id=BrjSwgEACAAJ.
- Michał Barski and Jerzy Zabczyk. Completeness of bond market driven by Lévy process. *Int. J. Theor. Appl. Finance*, 13(5):635–656, 2010. ISSN 0219-0249. doi: 10.1142/S0219024910005942. URLhttps://doi.org/10.1142/S0219024910005942.
- Christian Bayer, Jim Gatheral, and Morten Karlsmark. Fast Ninomiya–Victoir calibration of the double-mean-reverting model. *Quant. Finance*, 13(11): 1813–1829, 2013. ISSN 1469-7688. doi: 10.1080/14697688.2013.818245. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/14697688.2013.818245.
- Eric Temple Bell. Partition polynomials. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 29(1–4):38–46, 1927/28. ISSN 0003-486X. doi: 10.2307/1967979. URL https://doi.org/10.2307/1967979.
- Eric Benhamou, Emmanuel Gobet, and Mohammed Miri. Expansion formulas for European options in a local volatility model. *International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance*, 13(04):603–634, 2010a.
- Eric Benhamou, Emmanuel Gobet, and Mohammed Miri. Time dependent Heston model. *SIAM Journal on Financial Mathematics*, 1(1):289–325, 2010b.
- Henry Berestycki, Jérôme Busca, and Igor Florent. Asymptotics and calibration of local volatility models. *Quant. Finance*, 2(1):61–69, 2002. ISSN

- 1469-7688. doi: 10.1088/1469-7688/2/1/305. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/1469-7688/2/1/305.
- Fischer Black and Myron Scholes. The pricing of options and corporate liabilities. *J. Polit. Econ.*, 81(3):637–654, 1973. ISSN 0022-3808. doi: 10.1086/260062. URL https://doi.org/10.1086/260062.
- Fischer Black and Myron Scholes. The pricing of options and corporate liabilities [reprint of J. Polit. Econ. **81** (1973), no. 3, 637–654]. In *Financial risk measurement and management*, volume 267 of *Internat. Lib. Crit. Writ. Econ.*, pages 100–117. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, 2012.
- Bruno Bouchard, Emmanuel Lepinette, and Erik Taflin. Robust no-free lunch with vanishing risk, a continuum of assets and proportional transaction costs. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 124(10):3231–3259, 2014. ISSN 0304-4149. doi: 10.1016/j.spa.2014.04.012. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spa.2014.04.012.
- Robert Brown. XXVII. A brief account of microscopical observations made in the months of June, July and August 1827, on the particles contained in the pollen of plants; and on the general existence of active molecules in organic and inorganic bodies. *The Philosophical Magazine*, 4(21):161–173, 1828. doi: 10.1080/14786442808674769. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/14786442808674769.
- Peter Carr and Dilip Madan. Option valuation using the fast fourier transform. *Journal of computational finance*, 2(4):61–73, 1999.
- Kai-Seng Chou and Xi-Ping Zhu. *The curve shortening problem*. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2001. ISBN 1-58488-213-1. doi: 10.1201/9781420035704. URL https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420035704.
- Peter Christoffersen and Kris Jacobs. The importance of the loss function in option valuation. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 72(2):291–318, 2004.
- Peter Christoffersen, Steven Heston, and Kris Jacobs. The shape and term structure of the index option smirk: Why multifactor stochastic volatility models work so well. *Management Science*, 55(12):1914–1932, 2009.

- Zbigniew Ciesielski. Hölder conditions for realizations of Gaussian processes. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 99:403–413, 1961. ISSN 0002-9947. doi: 10. 2307/1993554. URL https://doi.org/10.2307/1993554.
- Edward Thomas Copson. *Asymptotic expansions*, volume 55 of *Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. ISBN 0-521-60482-6. Reprint of the 1965 original.
- John C Cox and Stephen A Ross. The valuation of options for alternative stochastic processes. *Journal of financial economics*, 3(1-2):145–166, 1976.
- Christa Cuchiero, Irene Klein, and Josef Teichmann. A new perspective on the fundamental theorem of asset pricing for large financial markets. *Theory Probab. Appl.*, 60(4):561–579, 2016. ISSN 0040-585X. doi: 10.1137/S0040585X97T987879. URL https://doi.org/10.1137/S0040585X97T987879.
- Robert C. Dalang, Andrew Morton, and Walter Willinger. Equivalent martingale measures and no-arbitrage in stochastic securities market models. *Stochastics Stochastics Rep.*, 29(2):185–201, 1990. ISSN 1045-1129. doi: 10.1080/17442509008833613. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/17442509008833613.
- Percy J. Daniell. Integrals in an infinite number of dimensions. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 20(4):281–288, 1919. ISSN 0003-486X. doi: 10.2307/1967122. URL https://doi.org/10.2307/1967122.
- Freddy Delbaen and Walter Schachermayer. A general version of the fundamental theorem of asset pricing. *Math. Ann.*, 300(3):463–520, 1994. ISSN 0025-5831. doi: 10.1007/BF01450498. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01450498.
- Freddy Delbaen and Walter Schachermayer. The no-arbitrage property under a change of numéraire. *Stochastics Stochastics Rep.*, 53(3-4):213–226, 1995a. ISSN 1045-1129.

- Freddy Delbaen and Walter Schachermayer. The existence of absolutely continuous local martingale measures. *Ann. Appl. Probab.*, 5(4):926–945, 1995b. ISSN 1050-5164. URL http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=1050-5164(199511)5:4<926:TEOACL>2.0.CO;2-5&origin=MSN.
- Freddy Delbaen and Walter Schachermayer. The fundamental theorem of asset pricing for unbounded stochastic processes. *Math. Ann.*, 312(2): 215–250, 1998. ISSN 0025-5831. doi: 10.1007/s002080050220. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s002080050220.
- Freddy Delbaen and Walter Schachermayer. *The mathematics of arbitrage*. Springer Finance. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006. ISBN 978-3-540-21992-7; 3-540-21992-7.
- Marko Dimitrov, Mohammed Albuhayri, Ying Ni, and Anatoliy Malyarenko. Numerical studies of implied volatility expansions under the Gatheral model. In K.N. Zafeiris, Christos H. Skiadas, Yannis Dimotikalis, Alex Karagrigoriu, and Christina Karagrigoriou-Vonta, editors, *Data Analysis and Related Applications 1. Computational, Algorithmic and Applied Economic Data Analysis*, volume 9 of *Big data, artificial intelligence, and data analysis set*, chapter 10, pages 135–148. Wiley, 2022.
- Monroe D. Donsker. An invariance principle for certain probability limit theorems. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 6:12, 1951. ISSN 0065-9266.
- Bruno Dupire. Pricing and hedging with smiles. In M. A. H. Dempster and S. R. Pliska, editors, *Mathematics of derivative securities (Cambridge, 1995)*, volume 15 of *Publ. Newton Inst.*, pages 103–111. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997. Including papers from the Bank of England Conference "Mathematics of Finance: Models, Theories and Computation" held as part of the Mathematical Finance Programme at the University of Cambridge, Cambridge, May 22–June 2, 1995.
- Albert Einstein. Über die von der molekularkinetischen Theorie der Wärme geforderte Bewegung von in ruhenden Flüssigkeiten suspendierten Teilchen. *Annalen der Physik*, 322(8):549–560, 1905. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/andp.19053220806. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/andp.19053220806.

- A. Erdélyi. Asymptotic expansions. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1956.
- Stewart N. Ethier and Thomas G. Kurtz. *Markov processes. Characterization and convergence*. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Probability and Mathematical Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1986. ISBN 0-471-08186-8. doi: 10.1002/9780470316658. URL https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470316658.
- Francesco Faà di Bruno. Sullo sviluppo delle funzioni. *Annali di Scienze Matematiche e Fisiche*, 6:479–480, 1855.
- Adolf Fick. Über diffusion. *Annalen der Physik*, 170(1):59–86, 1855. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/andp.18551700105. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/andp.18551700105.
- Adrian D. Fokker. Die mittlere Energie rotierender elektrischer Dipole im Strahlungsfeld. *Annalen der Physik*, 348(5):810–820, 1914. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/andp.19143480507. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/andp.19143480507.
- Martin Forde and Antoine Jacquier. Small-time asymptotics for implied volatility under the Heston model. *International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance*, 12(06):861–876, 2009.
- Jean-Pierre Fouque, George Papanicolaou, Ronnie Sircar, and Knut Sølna. Multiscale stochastic volatility for equity, interest rate, and credit derivatives. Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- Jean-Pierre Fouque, Matthew Lorig, and Ronnie Sircar. Second order multiscale stochastic volatility asymptotics: stochastic terminal layer analysis and calibration. *Finance Stoch.*, 20(3):543–588, 2016. ISSN 0949-2984. doi: 10.1007/s00780-016-0298-y. URL https://doi-org.ep.bib.mdh.se/10.1007/s00780-016-0298-y.
- Alessandra Frabetti and Dominique Manchon. Five interpretations of Faà di Bruno's formula. In Kurusch Ebrahimi-Fard and Frédéric Fauvet, editors, Faà di Bruno Hopf algebras, Dyson–Schwinger equations, and Lie–Butcher series, volume 21 of IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys., pages 91–147. Eur.

- Math. Soc., Zürich, 2015. Papers from the Workshop Dyson–Schwinger Equations and Faà di Bruno Hopf Algebras in Physics and Combinatorics (DSFdB2011) held at Strasbourg University, Strasbourg, June 27–July 1, 2011.
- Jim Gatheral. Consistent modeling of SPX and VIX options. In *The Fifth World Congress of the Bachelier Finance Society*, 2008. July 18, 2008.
- Jim Gatheral. *The volatility surface: a practitioner's guide*. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- Igor Girsanov. On transforming a class of stochastic processes by absolutely continuous substitution of measures. *Teor. Verojatnost. i Primenen.*, 5: 314–330, 1960. ISSN 0040-361x.
- Patrick S Hagan and Diana E Woodward. Equivalent Black volatilities. *Applied Mathematical Finance*, 6(3):147–157, 1999.
- Patrick S Hagan, Deep Kumar, Andrew S Lesniewski, and Diana E Woodward. Managing smile risk. *The Best of Wilmott*, 1:249–296, 2002.
- J. Michael Harrison and Stanley R. Pliska. Martingales and stochastic integrals in the theory of continuous trading. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 11(3):215–260, 1981. ISSN 0304-4149. doi: 10.1016/0304-4149(81)90026-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4149(81)90026-0.
- J. Michael Harrison and Stanley R. Pliska. A stochastic calculus model of continuous trading: complete markets. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 15(3): 313–316, 1983. ISSN 0304-4149. doi: 10.1016/0304-4149(83)90038-8. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4149(83)90038-8.
- Pierre Henry-Labordère. A general asymptotic implied volatility for stochastic volatility models. *Derivatives eJournal*, 2005.
- Pierre Henry-Labordere. *Analysis, geometry, and modeling in finance: Advanced methods in option pricing*. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2008.

- Steven L Heston. A closed-form solution for options with stochastic volatility with applications to bond and currency options. *The review of financial studies*, 6(2):327–343, 1993.
- John Hull and Alan White. The pricing of options on assets with stochastic volatilities. *The journal of finance*, 42(2):281–300, 1987.
- John Hull and Alan White. Pricing interest-rate-derivative securities. *The review of financial studies*, 3(4):573–592, 1990.
- Kiyosi Itô. Stochastic integral. *Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo*, 20:519–524, 1944. ISSN 0369-9846. URL http://projecteuclid.org/euclid.pja/1195572786.
- P Jäckel. Stochastic volatility models: past, present and future. *The Best of Wilmott*, 1:355–377, 2004.
- Antoine Jacquier and Matthew Lorig. The smile of certain Lévy-type models. *SIAM Journal on Financial Mathematics*, 4(1):804–830, 2013.
- Ioannis Karatzas and Steven E. Shreve. *Brownian motion and stochastic calculus*, volume 113 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1991. ISBN 0-387-97655-8. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-0949-2. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-0949-2.
- Constantinos Kardaras. Finitely additive probabilities and the fundamental theorem of asset pricing. In Carl Chiarella and Alexander Novikov, editors, *Contemporary quantitative finance*, pages 19–34. Springer, Berlin, 2010. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-03479-4_2. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-03479-4_2. Essays in honour of Eckhard Platen, Papers from the International Conference "Quantitative Methods in Finance" (QMF) held in Sydney, December 16–19, 2009.
- Andrei N. Kolmogoroff. Über die analytischen Methoden in der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung. *Math. Ann.*, 104(1):415–458, 1931. ISSN 0025-5831. doi: 10.1007/BF01457949. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01457949.

- Andrei N. Kolmogoroff. 978-3-642-49596-0, volume 2 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und Ihrer Grenzgebiete. Springer, Berlin, 1933. ISBN 978-3-642-49596-0. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-49888-6.
- Andrei N. Kolmogoroff. *Grundbegriffe der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1973. Reprinting of the 1933 edition.
- Andrei N. Kolmogoroff. *Grundbegriffe der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1977. ISBN 3-540-06110-X. Reprint of the 1933 original.
- Andrei N. Kolmogorov. *Foundations of the Theory of Probability*. Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, N. Y., 1950.
- Andrei N. Kolmogorov. *Foundations of the theory of probability*. Chelsea Publishing Co., New York, 1956. Translation edited by Nathan Morrison, with an added bibliography by A. T. Bharucha-Reid.
- Andrei N. Kolmogorov. *Osnovnye ponyatiya teorii veroyatnostei*. Izdat. "Nauka", Moscow, second edition, 1974. Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics Series, Vol. 16.
- Paul Langevin. Sur la théorie du mouvement brownien. *C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris*, 146:530–533, 1908.
- Henry A Latane and Richard J Rendleman. Standard deviations of stock price ratios implied in option prices. *The Journal of Finance*, 31(2):369–381, 1976.
- Shlomo Levental and Anatolii V. Skorohod. A necessary and sufficient condition for absence of arbitrage with tame portfolios. *Ann. Appl. Probab.*, 5(4):906–925, 1995. ISSN 1050-5164. URL http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=1050-5164(199511)5: 4<906:ANASCF>2.0.CO;2-I&origin=MSN.
- Paul Lévy. *Processus Stochastiques et Mouvement Brownien*. *Suivi d'une note de M. Loève*. Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1948.

- Alan L Lewis. A simple option formula for general jump-diffusion and other exponential lévy processes. *Available at SSRN 282110*, 2001.
- Matthew Lorig, Stefano Pagliarani, and Andrea Pascucci. Analytical expansions for parabolic equations. *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics*, 75 (2):468–491, 2015.
- Matthew Lorig, Stefano Pagliarani, and Andrea Pascucci. Explicit implied volatilities for multifactor local-stochastic volatility models. *Math. Finance*, 27(3):926–960, 2017a. ISSN 0960-1627. doi: 10.1111/mafi.12105. URL https://doi.org/10.1111/mafi.12105.
- Matthew Lorig, Stefano Pagliarani, and Andrea Pascucci. Explicit implied volatilities for multifactor local-stochastic volatility models. *Mathematical Finance*, 27(3):926–960, 2017b.
- Robert C. Merton. Theory of rational option pricing. *Bell J. Econom. and Management Sci.*, 4:141–183, 1973. ISSN 0005-8556.
- Larry J Merville and Dan R Pieptea. Stock-price volatility, mean-reverting diffusion, and noise. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 24(1):193–214, 1989.
- Marek Musiela and Marek Rutkowski. *Martingale methods in financial modelling*, volume 36 of *Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2005. ISBN 3-540-20966-2.
- Stefano Pagliarani and Andrea Pascucci. Analytical approximation of the transition density in a local volatility model. *Open Mathematics*, 10(1): 250–270, 2012.
- Stefano Pagliarani and Andrea Pascucci. The exact Taylor formula of the implied volatility. *Finance Stoch.*, 21(3):661–718, 2017. ISSN 0949-2984. doi: 10.1007/s00780-017-0330-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00780-017-0330-x.
- Stefano Pagliarani, Andrea Pascucci, and Candia Riga. Adjoint expansions in local Lévy models. *SIAM journal on Financial Mathematics*, 4(1):265–296, 2013.

- Max Planck. Über einen Satz der statistischen Dynamik und seine Erweiterung in der Quantentheorie. Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, 24:324–341, 1917.
- H Poincaré. On the irregular integrals of linear equations. *Acta Math*, 8:295, 1886.
- Yuriy Prokhorov. Convergence of random processes and limit theorems in probability theory. *Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen.*, 1:177–238, 1956. ISSN 0040-361x.
- Paul A. Samuelson. Rational theory of warrant pricing. *Industr. Management Rev.*, 6(2):13–32, 1965.
- Paul A. Samuelson. Modern finance theory within one lifetime. In Hélyette Geman, Dilip Madan, Stanley R. Pliska, and Ton Vorst, editors, *Mathematical Finance Bachelier Congress 2000: Selected Papers from the First World Congress of the Bachelier Finance Society, Paris, June 29–July 1, 2000*, pages 41–45. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2002. ISBN 978-3-662-12429-1. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-12429-1_2. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-12429-1_2.
- Paul A. Samuelson. Rational theory of warrant pricing. In F. Alberto Grünbaum, Pierre van Moerbeke, and Victor H. Moll, editors, *Henry P. McKean Jr. Selecta*, pages 195–232. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2015. ISBN 978-3-319-22237-0. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-22237-0_11. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-22237-0_11.
- Walter Schachermayer. Martingale measures for discrete-time processes with infinite horizon. *Math. Finance*, 4(1):25–55, 1994. ISSN 0960-1627. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9965.1994.tb00048.x. URL https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9965.1994.tb00048.x.
- Elias M Stein and Jeremy C Stein. Stock price distributions with stochastic volatility: an analytic approach. *The review of financial studies*, 4(4): 727–752, 1991.

- T-J Stieltjes. Recherches sur quelques séries semi-convergentes. In *Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure*, volume 3, pages 201–258, 1886
- Koichiro Takaoka and Martin Schweizer. A note on the condition of no unbounded profit with bounded risk. *Finance Stoch.*, 18(2):393–405, 2014. ISSN 0949-2984. doi: 10.1007/s00780-014-0229-8. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00780-014-0229-8.
- George E. Uhlenbeck and Leonard S. Ornstein. On the theory of the brownian motion. *Phys. Rev.*, 36:823–841, Sep 1930. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.36.823. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.36.823.
- Oldrich Vasicek. An equilibrium characterization of the term structure. *Journal of financial economics*, 5(2):177–188, 1977.
- Nikolai N. Čentsov. La convergence faible des processus stochastiques à trajectoires sans discontinuités de seconde espèce et l'approche dite "heuristique" au tests du type de Kolmogorov–Smirnov. *Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen.*, 1:155–161, 1956. ISSN 0040-361x.
- Shinzo Watanabe. Analysis of Wiener functionals (Malliavin calculus) and its applications to heat kernels. *The annals of Probability*, 15(1):1–39, 1987.
- Norbert Wiener. Differential space. *Journal of Mathematics and Physics*, 2(1–4):131–174, 1923. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/sapm192321131. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/sapm192321131.
- Bernard Wong and Christopher C. Heyde. Arbitrage and approximate arbitrage: the fundamental theorem of asset pricing. *Stochastics*, 82(1-3): 189–200, 2010. ISSN 1744-2508. doi: 10.1080/17442500903251824. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/17442500903251824.
- Jia-An Yan. A new look at the fundamental theorem of asset pricing. *J. Korean Math. Soc.*, 35(3):659–673, 1998. ISSN 0304-9914. International Conference on Probability Theory and its Applications (Taejon, 1998).

Appendix A

Miscellaneous formulae

In this Appendix, we collect various definitions and theorems necessary for understanding the main text of this thesis. Usually, they are not present in standard courses.

A.1 The Bell Polynomials

These polynomials have been introduced by Bell (1927/28). Let m be a positive integer, and let an integer h satisfies $1 \le h \le m$. Let $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^{m-h+1}$.

Definition 24. The *Bell polynomial* $B_{m,h}(z_1,\ldots,z_{m-h+1})$ is given by

$$B_{m,h}(z_1,\ldots,z_{m-h+1})=m!\sum_{\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_{m-h+1}}\prod_{i=1}^{m-h+1}\frac{z_i^{\beta_i}}{\beta_i!(i!)^{\beta_i}},$$

where the sum is taken over all sequences $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{m+h-1}$ of nonnegative integers satisfying

$$\beta_1 + \beta_2 + \dots + \beta_{m+h-1} = h,$$

 $\beta_1 + 2\beta_2 + \dots + (m-h+1)\beta_{m-h+1} = m.$

In the main text, we use the following three Bell polynomials:

$$B_{2,2}(z_1) = z_1^2,$$

$$B_{3,2}(z_1, z_2) = 3z_1z_2,$$

$$B_{3,3}(z_1) = z_1^3.$$
(A.1)

Note that the Bell polynomial $B_{m,h}(z_1, \ldots, z_{m-h+1})$ is a homogeneous polynomial in m-h+1 variables of degree h, it has the form

$$B_{m,h}(\mathbf{z}) = \sum_{\beta} b_{\beta} \mathbf{z}^{\beta}$$

with $b_{\beta} = m! \prod_{i=1}^{m-h+1} \frac{1}{\beta_i!(i!)^{\beta_i}}$.

A.2 The Faà di Bruno Formula

The above formula is just a general version of the Chain Rule. Let Let $G: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and $F: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be two smooth functions. Let $\nabla^h F$ be the rank h tensor of partial derivatives of order h of the function F.

Theorem 14 (The Faà di Bruno formula). For any positive integer m, we have

$$\frac{d^{m}F(\mathbf{G}(t))}{dt^{m}} = \sum_{h=1}^{m} \partial^{h}F(G_{1}(x), \dots, G_{n}(x))$$
$$\times B_{n,h}(G'(x), G''(x), \dots, G^{(m-h+1)}(x)).$$

This result was proved by Arbogast (1800), and only more than half century later by Faà di Bruno (1855). See also a historical survey in Frabetti and Manchon (2015).

A.3 The "Physicists" Hermite Polynomials

Definition 25. The "physicists" Hermite polynomials are defined by

$$H_n(x) = (-1)^n e^{x^2} \frac{\partial^n e^{-x^2}}{\partial x^n}.$$

These polynomials are orthogonal with respect to the measure $d\mu(x) = e^{-x^2} dx$, that is,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_m(x) H_n(x) d\mu(x) = \sqrt{\pi} 2^n n! \delta_{mn}.$$

The fist several physicists Hermite polynomials are

$$H_0(x) = 1,$$

$$H_1(x) = 2x,$$

$$H_2(x) = 4x^2 - 2,$$

$$H_3(x) = 8x^3 - 12x,$$

$$H_4(x) = 16x^4 - 48x^2 + 12,$$

$$H_5(x) = 32x^5 - 160x^3 + 120x,$$

$$H_6(x) = 64x^6 - 480x^4 + 720x^2 - 120,$$

$$H_7(x) = 128x^7 - 1344x^5 + 3360x^3 - 1680x.$$
(A.2)

Index

σ -field, 3	martingale, 8
adamtad musassa 0	martingale measure, 8
adapted process, 8	maturity, 12
appreciation rate, 11	measurable space, 4
arbitrage opportunity, 8	_
Bell's polynomial, 89	out-of-the-money, 12
Borel set, 5	portfolio process, 7
Brownian motion, 5	probability measure, 4
	probability space, 4
complete market, 12	filtered, 5
contingent claim, 12	progressive measurability, 7
attainable, 12	regeres, comments,
European, 12	random variable, 5
	random vector, 5
equivalent measures, 8	replicating process, 12
European call option, 12	risk-neutral measure, 13
event, 3	,
impossible, 3	sample space, 4
negligible, 4	spot interest rate, 10
	stochastic process, 5
filtration, 4	strike price, 12
financial engineering, 2	1
free lunch portfolio, 8	trading strategy, 7
Hermite polynomials, 90	usual conditions, 4
in-the-money, 12	volatility, 11
local volatility function, 14	wealth process, 7